

MFACC Master of Forensic Accounting

# The Role of Investigative and Forensic Accountants in Enhancing Corporate Governance: Challenges and Opportunities

Module Code & Title

IFA2903H - A Crucial research Project on Emerging Issues/Advanced Topics

Submitted by

Brian Obina – 1009734367

Date of submission

May 31, 2024

Supervised by

Prof. Leonard Brooks & Eckhard Schumann

Submitted in partial fulfillment for the Master of Forensic Accounting (MFAcc)

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgments
Executive Summary 4
Chapter 1. Introduction
1.1 Overview of Corporate Governance6
1.2 Introduction to Forensic Accounting8
1.3 Thesis Statement, Scope, and Objectives9
1.4 Methodology10
1.5 List of People Interviewed10
1.6 Limitations
Chapter 2: Background12
2.1 Evolution of Forensic Accounting12
2.2 Principles of Corporate Governance13
2.3 Current State of Corporate Governance15
3.1 Fraud Detection and Prevention-Fraud Triangle17
3.2 Compliance and Regulatory Requirements21
3.3 Litigation Support
3.4 Financial Statement Audit Role
Chapter 4: Challenges
4.1 Culture of Resistance and Tone at the Top
4.2. Technology
4.3 Globalization
4.4 Skill Gaps and Education
4.5 Ethical Issues: Dilemmas and Conflicts of Interest 32
4.6 Inexperience of IFAs
Chapter 5: Opportunities
5.1 Lack of Awareness of IFA's work
5.2 Opportunity for Cybersecurity professionals and IFAs to work together to combat cyber fraud
5.3 Emerging Technologies
5.4 Regulatory Evolution
Chapter 6: Case Studies
6.1 Sino-Forest Corporation-Background

6.1.1 How fraud was committed.	
6.1.2 How IFAs at OSC helped in the Investigation of the Fraud	
6.1.3 Lessons Learned from the Sino Forest Scandal	
6.2 Enron Scandal-Background	
6.2.1 How Fraud Was Committed	
6.2.2 Role of Forensic Accountants in Uncovering the Fraud.	51
6.2.3 Lessons Learned from the Enron Scandal	
Chapter 7: Conclusion and Recommendations	55
APPENDICES	57
Appendix 1: Interview Summary Notes	57
BIBLIOGRAPHY	66

## Acknowledgments

To begin with, I would like to thank God for helping me with this research paper and for allowing me to pursue this master's program. My passion, something I have dreamt about since the first day I stepped into my undergraduate accounting class.

I would also like to thank my mentor, Stephanie Greenwald, for the suggestions and recommendations offered during the research for this report.

Lastly, I would also like to acknowledge all those who allowed themselves to be interviewed for this research report.

#### **Executive Summary**

The role of forensic accountants in corporate governance is critical for ensuring transparency, accountability, and ethical practices within organizations. This report explores the intersection of forensic accounting and corporate governance, highlighting the significant contributions of investigative and forensic accountants (IFAs) in enhancing governance frameworks. Through detailed analysis, it explores the challenges faced by IFAs and the impact of their work on maintaining corporate integrity.

Corporate governance comprises the systems, rules, and practices by which companies are directed and controlled, aiming to balance the interests of various stakeholders. Effective management is vital for building a transparent, accountable, and trustworthy corporate environment, mitigating the risks of corruption, fraud, and mismanagement. Forensic accountants play a pivotal role in this landscape by providing analytical insights necessary for preventing and detecting financial discrepancies and fraudulent activities.

Forensic accounting, a discipline at the intersection of accounting, investigation, and law, is instrumental in fraud risk assessment, financial discrepancy detection, and ensuring adherence to legal and ethical standards. IFAs employ a unique blend of skills to conduct fraud investigations, dispute resolutions, and litigation support, significantly reinforcing corporate governance principles.

This report identifies several challenges IFAs face, including technological advancements, globalization, ethical dilemmas, and the evolving nature of financial crimes. While beneficial, technological advancements also introduce sophisticated methods of committing fraud, requiring IFAs to adapt and enhance their investigative techniques continuously. Globalization presents jurisdictional and cultural challenges, complicating the detection and prevention of cross-border financial crimes. Ethical dilemmas and conflicts of interest further complicate the role of IFAs, necessitating a solid commitment to professional integrity and ethical standards.

Despite these challenges, the report highlights significant opportunities for IFAs to positively influence corporate governance. Integrating advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence and blockchain can enhance fraud detection and financial transparency. The evolving regulatory landscape also presents opportunities for IFAs to contribute to developing and implementing strong governance frameworks.

This report includes detailed case studies, such as the Sino-Forest Corporation and Enron scandals, to illustrate the practical roles and impacts of IFAs in corporate governance. These case studies provide valuable insights into how forensic accountants uncover complex financial frauds, demonstrating their crucial role in maintaining corporate transparency, integrity, and accountability.

The Sino-Forest case highlights the importance of independent verification of a company's claims and the need for stringent regulatory oversight. Forensic accountants' careful analysis and on-the-ground verification were pivotal in exposing the fraudulent activities and inflated asset values reported by Sino-Forest. The Enron scandal underscores the critical need for transparency, ethical corporate governance, and independent auditing practices. The role of forensic accountants in uncovering the complex financial manipulations at Enron demonstrates the importance of their expertise in safeguarding corporate integrity and protecting investor interests.

Conclusively, IFAs are indispensable in enhancing corporate governance, providing a critical layer of oversight and assurance supporting sound governance principles. Despite facing numerous challenges, the opportunities for IFAs to influence corporate governance positively are expanding. Through their work, IFAs contribute to a culture of integrity, accountability, and transparency within organizations, ultimately enhancing the effectiveness of corporate governance practices. The insights and lessons derived from forensic accounting investigations are invaluable in shaping robust governance frameworks and preventing future financial scandals.

### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

#### **1.1 Overview of Corporate Governance**

In the complex world of modern business, corporate governance principles stand as critical pillars ensuring the sustainable success and ethical operation of corporations. Corporate governance is comprised of the systems, rules, and practices through which companies are managed and controlled. It aims to balance the interests of an organization's many stakeholders, including shareholders, senior management executives, customers, suppliers, financiers, the government, and the community. Beyond merely a set of guidelines, effective corporate governance is fundamental in building a transparent, accountable, and trustworthy corporate environment<sup>1</sup>. It safeguards against corruption, fraud, and mismanagement risks, all too rampant in today's corporate scandals and financial crises. In this nuanced and complicated world of governance, the skills of forensic accountants are crucial in providing assurance that operations and reporting are performed with integrity and vigilance, providing the analytical insight necessary to navigate the complicated terrain of financial complexity and deceit, both for preventative purposes and detection.

The essence of corporate governance lies in its ability to foster a framework that promotes fairness, transparency, accountability, and responsibility<sup>2</sup>. It guides corporations in achieving their objectives, implements effective risk management procedures, and ensures compliance with laws and standards. This framework is not static; it evolves with the changing landscapes of global finance, responding to the growing demands for greater corporate transparency and accountability. In an era marked by rapid technological advancements and globalized business operations, the significance of strong corporate governance has never been more pronounced. It is the central component in maintaining investor confidence, protecting stakeholder interests, and enhancing the overall economic health of societies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> OECD. (2015). *G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance*. OECD Publishing. This document outlines international principles for good corporate governance, focusing on transparency, accountability, and the protection of stakeholder interests. <sup>2</sup> Ibid





Effective corporate governance requires a clear understanding of the respective roles of management and the board of directors and implementation of strong systems to manage risk. "*The role and mandate of the board of directors is of paramount importance in the governance framework. Typically, the directors are elected by the shareholders at their annual meeting, which is held to receive the company's audited annual financial statements and the audit report thereon, as well as the comments of the chairman of the board, the senior company officers, and the company auditor*<sup>4</sup>".

The various committees and roles are established to ensure a company is managed effectively and ethically. The Governance Committee oversees board composition and governance policies, while the Compensation Committee sets pay structures for executives and ensures compliance with regulations. The Audit Committee plays a critical role in financial integrity by overseeing financial reporting and acting as a liaison between internal and external auditors and the board. Senior Management, including roles like the CEO,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Brooks and Dunn (P.257-260)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ibid

plays a crucial role in corporate governance by setting strategic direction, ensuring compliance, and fostering a culture of integrity and transparency. They act as the primary link between the board and management, driving decision-making and stakeholder engagement, and the CFO oversees the organization's financial health and ensures accurate financial reporting, compliance, and strategic financial planning. They work closely with the CEO and the board of directors to provide financial insights, manage risks, and support sustainable growth and shareholder value. Internal Auditors evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, internal controls, and governance processes within the organization. Lastly, whistleblowers are very crucial in the corporate governance framework. They provide a channel for confidential reporting, helping to detect and prevent misconduct before it escalates; collectively, these roles and committees form a comprehensive system of checks and balances that supports transparent and responsible corporate governance<sup>5</sup>.

## **1.2 Introduction to Forensic Accounting**

Forensic Accounting, a discipline at the intersection of accounting, investigation, and law, is instrumental in providing fraud risk assessment/mitigation, uncovering fraudulent activities, and ensuring adherence to legal and ethical standards. IFAs are the detectives of the financial world, equipped with a specialized skill set to conduct fraud investigations, dispute resolutions, and litigation support. Their work involves analyzing financial documents, identifying irregularities, and providing expert testimony in court. The scope of forensic accounting extends beyond the courtroom through fraud prevention/mitigation, financial auditing, and consultancy services aimed at enhancing internal controls and compliance mechanisms.

The relevance of forensic accounting to corporate governance must be considered. As guardians of financial integrity, IFAs play a crucial role in detecting and preventing fraud, thereby reinforcing the foundations of corporate governance. Their expertise strengthens risk management practices, enhances regulatory compliance, and fosters a culture of transparency and accountability within organizations. In doing so, IFAs protect the interests of shareholders and stakeholders and uphold the public trust in the financial markets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Brooks and Dunn (P.257-260)

## 1.3 Thesis Statement, Scope, and Objectives

This research paper asserts that IFAs are indispensable to enhancing corporate governance. Through their unique blend of skills and expertise, IFAs provide a critical layer of oversight and assurance that supports the principles of good governance. They act as a deterrent to financial mismanagement and fraud, thereby contributing to the overall health and stability of the corporate ecosystem. Despite facing challenges such as technological advancements, globalization, and ethical dilemmas, the opportunities for IFAs to influence corporate governance are expanding.

This paper will delve into the various roles of IFAs within the governance framework, explore the challenges they encounter, and highlight the opportunities that lie ahead. Through a comprehensive analysis, I aim to highlight the pivotal role of forensic accounting in fostering a culture of integrity, accountability, and transparency in the corporate world, thus enhancing the effectiveness of corporate governance practices.

My motivation for selecting this research topic stems from the increasing occurrence of financial scandals and the complicated nature of corporate economic transactions. The choice is deeply personal and informed by growing up in Uganda, where corruption and misappropriation of funds have been pervasive issues. High-profile cases like The Global Fund Scandal of 2005 and the Gavi Fund scandal of 2007, among others, highlight a pattern of deceit where funds meant for public welfare were diverted through non-existent organizations or mismanaged.

These scandals could have been mitigated or even prevented with powerful corporate governance frameworks emphasizing clear values, ethical decision-making, and robust laws punishing corrupt officials when caught. IFAs play a pivotal role in this landscape, operating on the front lines in the battle against financial crime. Their expertise is in tracing illicit transactions and shaping corporate culture to prioritize transparency, promote fraud awareness, and uphold ethical financial practices.

The research topic is thus both urgent and necessary. It aims to examine and improve the mechanisms through which forensic accountants can contribute to stronger corporate governance. It endeavors to answer critical questions about how forensic accounting professionals can detect and deter unethical financial behavior,

thus safeguarding public funds and maintaining trust in financial institutions. This topic is expected to have practical implications for companies and government agencies worldwide, offering insights into how they can fortify their defenses against the ever-evolving tactics of financial criminals inside and outside an organization.

## 1.4 Methodology

• Interviews

The study utilized semi-structured interviews with forensic accountants to gather in-depth insights into the practical roles, challenges, and opportunities in forensic accounting. These interviews provided qualitative data on the experiences and perspectives of professionals in the field.

Case Studies

Detailed case studies of high-profile corporate fraud cases, such as Sino-Forest Corporation and Enron, were analyzed to illustrate the role of IFAs in uncovering and addressing fraud. These case studies helped to contextualize the findings and provided real-world examples of forensic accounting in action. Document Review

• The research involved a comprehensive literature review, including books, academic journals, industry reports, and regulatory documents. This review provided a theoretical foundation for the study and helped to identify gaps in the current understanding of forensic accounting and corporate governance.

# **1.5 List of People Interviewed**

• Daniel Tourangeau, FCPA, FCA, MFAcc, CFF, CFE

Ontario Securities Commission | Enforcement Branch | Case Lead & Senior Forensic Accountant

# • Jack Martin, CPA, CISA, CPA•IFA, CFF

Partner, Forensic, National Leader - Forensic Data Analytics at KPMG Canada

# • Amanda Henderson CPA, CMA, CFF

Senior Manager /Vice President at MDD Canada

• Greg Naviloff CPA CFF CFE ABV

# **1.6 Limitations**

- The research was conducted within a limited timeframe, restricting the depth of analysis and the ability to explore additional data sources thoroughly.
- The interview findings are based on respondents who are not directly working in corporate governance, which may not fully represent the broader population of forensic accountants or corporate governance professionals.
- Potential biases in responses due to the professional backgrounds and experiences of interviewees.
- The availability of books and journals is yet another limitation of the research. Although there are so many good sources out there, some of them require subscriptions or purchases, which can become expensive in the short term.

## **Chapter 2: Background**

#### 2.1 Evolution of Forensic Accounting

The roots of forensic accounting can be traced back to ancient Egypt, where scribes employed by pharaohs ensured the accuracy of records, serving as an early form of internal control to prevent fraud. This practice of independent record-keeping became increasingly crucial as societies developed legal systems to resolve disputes, including financial ones. The formal use of forensic accounting began in the early 20th century, particularly noted in an 1817 Canadian case where an accountant testified as an expert witness<sup>6</sup>. Forensic accounting gained further prominence with the famous case against Al Capone in the 1930s, which played a pivotal role in his conviction for tax evasion.

The field expanded significantly in the late 20th century, driven by growing financial complexities and high-profile accounting scandals like Enron. This increased demand for IFAs to investigate fraud and provide litigation support, especially after new regulations were introduced to improve corporate governance and financial transparency. Today, forensic accounting incorporates a wide array of tools and technologies, including electronic discovery and big data analytics. These advancements have enhanced the ability of forensic accountants to analyze complex financial data and conduct thorough investigations.

Over the decades, forensic accounting has become a specialized field with certifications such as Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE) and Certified in Financial Forensics (CFF). It is now recognized globally, and practitioners in the field are required to possess a mix of accounting, auditing, interviewing, investigative, and report-writing skills.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Crumbley and Fenton Chapter 1(p. 6-7)

# 2.2 Principles of Corporate Governance Accountability

This principle requires organizations to be answerable for their actions and decisions, especially in their use of resources and the accuracy of their financial reporting. Leaders must be able to justify their choices and outcomes to those who have entrusted them with authority. A company demonstrates accountability by having independent audits of its financial statements, setting up a whistleblower hotline or program to provide an avenue through which employees can raise concerns, and establishing a board of directors with authority to oversee management's decisions and hold them accountable for the company's performance<sup>7</sup>.

## Fairness

Fairness in corporate governance involves treating all stakeholders justly without favoritism or discrimination. This means considering and balancing the interests and rights of all parties involved in or affected by the corporation's activities. An organization may show fairness by having a clear and transparent policy for dealing with conflicts of interest, ensuring that all shareholders can receive important company information, and voting on critical matters<sup>8</sup>.

#### Transparency

Transparency involves open and clear communication about the company's activities, decisions, and performance. This includes the timely dissemination of both financial and non-financial information. Companies can demonstrate transparency by regularly publishing detailed reports about their financial performance, business strategies, and potential risks and making these reports readily available to all stakeholders<sup>9</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> University of Lincoln. (2022, June 16). What is the core principle of corporate governance? https://online.lincoln.ac.uk/what-are-the-core-principles-of-corporate-governance/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ibid

<sup>9</sup> ibid

## Responsibility

Responsibility in corporate governance means recognizing and responding to societal expectations regarding ethical conduct, risk mitigation, and compliance with the law. Corporations must act responsibly in their legal, social, and environmental contexts. An example of corporate responsibility is adhering to environmental regulations and going beyond compliance by implementing sustainable business practices that minimize ecological impact<sup>10</sup>.

Overall, these principles are foundational to good corporate governance and are critical for maintaining trust with stakeholders, ensuring the company's long-term success, and contributing positively to the broader society in which the company operates.

"More specifically, an organization that exercises effective corporate governance will:

- Balance compliance with performance
- Clarify the board's role in determining strategic direction.
- Regularly monitor organizational performance
- Understand the importance of/work to improve the board-CEO relationship.
- Implement and exercise sound risk management and internal control systems.
- Ensure each director has the knowledge, skills, experience, and resources needed.
- Appoint a competent chairperson with exceptional leadership qualities.
- Continue to pursue opportunities for improvement<sup>11</sup>."

<sup>11</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> University of Lincoln. (2022, June 16). What is the core principle of corporate governance? https://online.lincoln.ac.uk/what-are-the-core-principles-of-corporate-governance/

#### 2.3 Current State of Corporate Governance

The current state of corporate governance is marked by a heightened awareness of the importance of ethical practices, driven by high-profile scandals and corporate governance failures. Notable scandals, such as those involving Enron and Sino Forest in the early 2000s and more recent ones involving companies like SNC-Lavalin, have emphasized the need for more stringent corporate governance. These cases exposed significant weaknesses in financial regulation and corporate oversight, prompting a re-evaluation of the role of Auditors and IFAs in corporate governance.

The aftermath of these scandals led to increased regulation, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in the United States and similar legislations worldwide, which emphasized the importance of accurate financial reporting and internal controls. As a result, the demand for IFAs has soared, with their expertise now being sought not only for investigative purposes but also for designing and implementing systems that ensure good governance.

Unfortunately, with all the regulations put in place and the effort to ensure they are strictly followed, with heavy penalties for disobeying, there are still shocking governance scandals surfacing daily. For example, the Money Laundering case in which TD Bank, one of Canada's largest banks, has recently been implicated in a money laundering scandal involving profits from the illegal fentanyl trade. According to a report by the Wall Street Journal, TD Bank is under investigation for allegedly facilitating transactions that were part of a broader scheme to launder drug money<sup>12</sup>. The investigation highlights the challenges banks face in detecting and preventing money laundering activities, especially those tied to sophisticated criminal enterprises.

The evolution continues as forensic accountants adapt to emerging challenges, including those posed by cybersecurity threats and the complexities of cryptocurrency markets, ensuring that corporate governance principles are upheld in an ever-changing financial landscape.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Duhigg, C. (2024 May, 2). *TD Bank probe tied to laundering of illicit fentanyl profits*. The Wall Street Journal. Retrieved from https://www.wsj.com/articles/td-bank-probe-tied-to-laundering-of-illicit-fentanyl-profits-aae71243

Furthermore, Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) factors remain a significant area of focus. There is a push for more action and less rhetoric in implementing ESG initiatives, particularly in regions like Australia and the EU, where regulatory frameworks like the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) are setting new standards for corporate reporting and accountability<sup>13</sup>.

Economic volatility is prompting boards to adopt more comprehensive risk management strategies. Boards are being encouraged to think proactively about long-term growth and sustainability in the face of potential economic downturns, fluctuating interest rates, and inflation<sup>14</sup>.

There is also a global focus on enhancing board diversity and ensuring that boards reflect broader perspectives and expertise. This includes cultural, social, and generational diversity, which is increasingly crucial for effective governance and decision-making<sup>15</sup>.

Both public and private companies are seeing shifts in governance standards, with increasing professionalization of board activities and more explicit focus on improving strategic dialogue and board processes, particularly in markets like Mexico, India, and Brazil. Boards must also navigate a landscape of new regulations across different regions, impacting everything from digital operations to environmental practices. This includes compliance with new EU digital regulations and adapting to changes in U.S. corporate governance standards due to shifts in regulatory perspectives on issues like board diversity and cybersecurity.<sup>16</sup>

These trends indicate a dynamic environment in which corporate governance continuously evolves to meet new challenges and opportunities. Boards need to stay informed and agile, adapting their strategies to ensure sound governance that aligns with shareholder expectations and regulatory requirements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Farnham, K. (2023, December 15). Top corporate governance trends for 2024 & beyond. Diligent Corporation. https://www.diligent.com/resources/blog/corporate-governance-trends <sup>14</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Russell Reynolds Associates. (2024, February 14). 2024 global corporate governance trends.

https://www.russellreynolds.com/en/insights/reports-surveys/2024-global-corporate-governance-trends

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Lipton, M. (2024, January 3). Thoughts for boards: Key issues in corporate governance for 2024. Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2024/01/03/thoughts-for-boards-key-issues-in-corporate-governance-for-2024/

## **Chapter 3: The Role of Forensic Accountants in Corporate Governance**

## 3.1 Fraud Detection and Prevention-Fraud Triangle

The Fraud Triangle is a model for explaining the factors that cause someone to commit fraud. It consists of three components that, when present, increase the risk of fraudulent behavior<sup>17</sup>. Auditors, forensic accountants, and fraud examiners use the fraud triangle to identify high-risk situations within organizations, improve internal controls, enhance ethical policies, and ultimately prevent fraud. Understanding these three factors helps professionals and organizations develop more effective deterrents and detection mechanisms to combat fraudulent activities.

## Figure 3.1



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Crumbley and Fenton, Chapter 3(p.17-23)

**Opportunity:** This represents the circumstances that allow fraud to occur. In a corporate setting, this might include inadequate internal controls, lack of oversight, or complex systems where fraudulent actions can be concealed<sup>18</sup>. IFAs use their expertise to identify these vulnerabilities in an organization's systems and suggest improvements to close these gaps. As IFAs, we are often perceived as reactive, focusing on fraud investigations after they occur; several respondents highlighted the opportunity areas as where IFAs can proactively benefit corporate governance by helping to reduce opportunities for fraudulent activities within an organization.

## How IFAs Address Opportunity:

- Identifying Vulnerabilities: IFAs carefully review and audit organizational systems and processes to identify vulnerabilities that could be exploited for fraud. These might include inadequate separation of duties, poor access controls, or outdated auditing practices. For example, an IFA can be hired to examine a company's procurement process to identify areas of weakness.
- **Recommending Improvements:** IFAs suggest tailored improvements to strengthen the system after identifying these vulnerabilities. This could involve enhancing monitoring mechanisms, simplifying financial processes to eliminate unnecessary complexity, or introducing strict verification procedures.
- Implementing Stronger Controls: IFAs assist organizations in implementing the recommended changes. This includes integrating advanced software solutions for real-time monitoring, training staff on new protocols, and establishing clear lines of accountability.
- **Regular Review and Adjustment:** To ensure the effectiveness of these controls, IFAs recommend regular reviews and adjustments. This dynamic approach allows an organization to adapt to new threats and changes within the business environment, maintaining a resilient stance against fraud.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Crumbley and Fenton, Chapter 3(p.17-23)

By focusing on the opportunity aspect of the Fraud Triangle, IFAs play a critical role in strengthening corporate governance. Their expertise not only aids in preventing fraud but also promotes a culture of integrity and transparency, which is essential for long-term organizational health. This proactive stance helps safeguard assets, preserve reputation, and ensure compliance with legal standards, contributing significantly to the stability and success of the enterprise.

**Pressure:** Often related to financial or personal stress, pressure drives individuals to commit fraud. This might stem from unrealistic performance targets, personal financial issues, or a corporate culture that prioritizes results without considering ethical implications<sup>19</sup>. IFAs can work with organizations to develop ethical policies and support systems that help alleviate these pressures. They reinforce ethical behavior and decision-making by addressing the root causes of stress and providing avenues for relief or reporting.

#### **How IFAs Address Pressure**

- Understanding the Sources of Pressure: IFAs identify the specific pressures that could lead to unethical behavior. These pressures range from high-performance expectations that may not be reasonably attainable to personal financial difficulties or a corporate culture that implicitly encourages cutting corners to achieve targets.
- **Developing Ethical Policies**: One of the most effective ways IFAs can help organizations is by developing ethical policies. These policies clarify what is considered acceptable behavior and what is not, reducing ambiguity that can lead to moral dilemmas.
- **Promoting Realistic Goals:** IFAs can also work with management to set realistic performance targets. Unrealistic goals can often push employees towards fraudulent behaviors to meet targets. Setting achievable goals helps reduce this pressure, aligning employee efforts with ethical practices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Crumbley and Fenton, Chapter 3(p.17-23

• **Reinforcing Ethical Decision-Making:** Through training and ongoing communication, IFAs can help organizations reinforce a culture of ethical decision-making. They educate employees on the consequences of fraud, not just for the company but also for themselves and their colleagues, which can discourage improper conduct by improving ethical judgment.

Addressing these pressures, IFAs help organizations cultivate an environment where ethical behavior is the norm and decision-making processes are aligned with corporate values. This not only helps prevent fraud but also improves overall corporate governance, leading to a healthier organizational climate and improved stakeholder trust.

**Rationalization:** This is the mental process by which individuals justify their dishonest actions as acceptable. Common rationalizations include beliefs that one is underpaid, deserving of more, or that the act is for a greater good<sup>20</sup>. IFAs can help organizations establish clear codes of conduct and ethics training that make it harder for employees to justify unethical behavior. Promoting a strong ethical culture and clear consequences for violations helps reduce rationalizations that lead to fraud.

## How IFAs Address Rationalization

- Establishing Clear Codes of Conduct: IFAs help organizations develop comprehensive codes of conduct that clearly define ethical and unethical behavior. These codes benchmark against which actions can be measured, making it harder for employees to justify inappropriate actions.
- **Conducting Ethics Training**: Regular ethics training sessions reinforce the organization's values and the importance of ethical conduct. IFAs often facilitate these trainings, providing scenarios and examples that help employees understand the implications of unethical behavior.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Crumbley and Fenton, Chapter 3(p.17-23)

- **Promoting a Strong Ethical Culture**: IFAs work towards nurturing an organizational culture where integrity is valued above all. This includes leadership demonstrating ethical behavior, which sets a tone at the top that discourages rationalizations for fraud.
- **Outlining Clear Consequences for Violations**: Clear, consistent consequences for unethical actions help deter misconduct. IFAs assist in establishing these protocols to ensure they are fair and uniformly applied, reinforcing the seriousness of complying with ethical standards.
- Encouraging Open Communication: IFAs advocate for an environment where employees feel safe to express concerns about unethical behavior without fear of retribution. Open communication channels help prevent the buildup of rationalizations by openly addressing grievances and ethical dilemmas.

By systematically addressing rationalization, IFAs help reduce the likelihood of fraud by making it difficult for individuals to justify unethical behaviors. This approach curbs fraud and enhances overall corporate governance by embedding ethical decision-making into the organization's fabric.

## **3.2 Compliance and Regulatory Requirements**

A broad analysis of the interview responses suggests that in compliance, the primary responsibility of an IFA is to uphold ethical standards and values, effectively ensuring that honest individuals remain so. This responsibility is vital as it underpins the organization's dedication to legal and moral behavior, fostering a compliance-focused workplace culture. Such a culture is essential for preserving the integrity of the business, which is crucial for its long-term sustainability and success. By promoting strict adherence to these standards, IFAs play a vital role in averting legal issues and boosting the organization's reputation, thereby increasing its credibility among stakeholders and the public. Some of the ways IFAs can help are:

### • Ensuring Adherence to Laws and Regulations

IFAs understand domestic and international financial regulations, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act in the United States, and international standards like

the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Their expertise is crucial in navigating the evolving nature of regulations that impact various aspects of corporate operations, from financial disclosures to anti-money laundering protocols.

IFAs can leverage technology such as advanced data analytics, artificial intelligence (AI), and blockchain to ensure adherence to laws and regulations in corporate governance. Data analytics tools help identify irregularities in financial transactions and patterns indicative of fraud. AI can automate the detection of anomalies and predict potential compliance issues. Blockchain technology offers a secure and transparent way to record transactions, reducing the risk of manipulation and ensuring integrity in financial reporting<sup>21</sup>.

IFAs also actively engages in compliance audits when there is an indication of wrongdoing, carefully reviewing financial records and operational procedures to uncover any fraudulent activities that might have occurred or prove otherwise.

Moreover, the transparent and systematic approach endorsed by IFAs enhances the trust and confidence of the organization's investors, regulators, and the public.

By reinforcing the organization's commitment to lawful and ethical behavior, IFAs contribute to creating a sustainable governance environment where the rights and interests of all stakeholders are respected and protected.

## Advisory Role

Beyond detection, IFAs are pivotal in devising strategies to prevent future compliance issues. They provide actionable advice to corporate boards and management, recommending improvement to internal controls, risk management, and compliance frameworks<sup>22</sup>. In the event of regulatory shortcomings,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> PwC. (2021). Forensic technology: Tools and techniques to fight fraud. Retrieved May 14, 2024, from https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/services/forensic-technology.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Financial Crime Academy. (n.d.). *Forensic accountants*. Retrieved May 21, 2024, from https://financialcrimeacademy.org/forensic-accountants/

IFAs assist in developing and implementing remedial measures, often crafting tailored compliance programs that address the specific needs and risks of the organization.

When new regulations are enacted or when an organization enters a new market with unfamiliar legal requirements, IFAs, together with legal counsel, can help interpret the implications and guide the necessary modifications to business practices. They can also help monitor whistleblower programs and react if need be.

Their proactive stance mitigates non-compliance risk and positions the organization to adapt to regulatory changes swiftly.

The rigorous pursuit of compliance by IFAs supports the broader goals of corporate governance by ensuring that companies operate within the boundaries of the law and adhere to high ethical standards. This dedication to compliance minimizes the risk of financial penalties, legal sanctions, and reputational damage that can arise from regulatory breaches.

## • Training and Awareness

Education and training are often overlooked but vital aspects of the IFA's role in compliance. They act as educators within the organization, raising awareness about the importance of compliance and the consequences of non-compliance. By leading training sessions and workshops, they ensure that the personnel at all levels of the organization understand their roles in maintaining compliance, reinforcing an organizational culture that values and upholds regulatory requirements.

#### **3.3 Litigation Support**

Most interviewees noted expert witness as the most critical litigation support service that IFAs play. Expert witnesses play a substantial role in legal proceedings related to financial disputes, impacting corporate governance through the legal system.

In their capacity as expert witnesses, IFAs offer their specialized knowledge to the court. They prepare and present reports that clarify complex financial issues, offering credible, impartial testimony on matters such as economic damages, valuation disputes, asset tracing, and financial misrepresentations. Their involvement often extends to the pre-trial stages, where they may assist in interviewing witnesses to collect evidence, preparing expert investigation reports, creating exhibits, and so on<sup>23</sup>.

Through the legal validation of their findings, IFAs affect the outcomes of corporate lawsuits, which may lead to changes in regulations, corporate policies, and governance structures. By setting precedents in financial accountability and integrity, the judicial outcomes supported by IFAs reinforce corporate governance principles, deterring misconduct and promoting ethical business practices.

The impact of expert witness services provided by IFAs on corporate governance is significant, as evidenced by cases like Enron, where financial misreporting or mismanagement led to revisions in governance practices and financial regulations. In essence, the expertise of IFAs contributes not only to resolving individual cases but also to shaping the framework within which corporations operate, ensuring greater accountability and governance in the corporate landscape.

#### **3.4 Financial Statement Audit Role.**

IFAs play a critical role in enhancing the effectiveness and credibility of financial statement audits, especially in industries highly susceptible to fraud. Their expertise in identifying and investigating fraud and financial irregularities significantly improves the quality of the audit process. IFAs bring specialized skills in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Financial Crime Academy. (n.d.). *Forensic accountants*. Retrieved May 21, 2024, from https://financialcrimeacademy.org/forensic-accountants/

examining financial records, uncovering hidden liabilities, and understanding complex transactions that traditional audit techniques might otherwise overlook. Their ability to detect anomalies and potentially fraudulent activities ensures a more thorough and reliable audit outcome, which is crucial for maintaining investor confidence and the integrity of financial markets.

The enhanced level of scrutiny aligns with regulatory requirements established by bodies such as the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB). The PCAOB mandates rigorous audit standards to protect investors and enhance the transparency and reliability of financial reporting<sup>24</sup>. By integrating forensic accountants into audit teams, firms can better comply with these standards, particularly those related to detecting and preventing fraud. Forensic accountants' in-depth understanding of regulations such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and the Dodd-Frank Act ensures that audits are thorough and adhere to the latest regulatory requirements. This compliance is vital for avoiding legal penalties and maintaining the trust of stakeholders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB). (2023). *Release No. 2023-003: Noncompliance with laws and regulations*. Retrieved from https://assets.pcaobus.org/pcaob-dev/docs/default-source/rulemaking/docket-051/pcaob-release-no.-2023-003---noclar.pdf?sfvrsn=fe43e8a\_2

## **Chapter 4: Challenges**

#### 4.1 Culture of Resistance and Tone at the Top

The interview responses predominantly pointed to the culture of resistance and the tone set by top management as the biggest challenges IFAs are likely to face while working in corporate governance, either as part of an external investigation into suspicious wrongdoing or in a compliance capacity.

#### Tone at the Top

"Tone at the top" refers to the ethical environment corporate leaders establish for the entire organization. These includes the top management's values, ethics, and actions and how these are perceived and emulated throughout the organization<sup>25</sup>. The tone set by upper management is pivotal in shaping the operational environment and ethical climate in which IFAs work.

If leadership exhibits unethical behavior or disregards compliance, it can permeate the organization, leading to increased fraud and misconduct. This behavior makes it difficult for IFAs to detect fraud, as employees may be inclined to hide or participate in unethical activities if they see those at the top doing the same.

Forensic accountants often provide recommendations at the end of an investigation to prevent future fraud and improve governance practices. However, if the leadership is not committed to ethical governance, these recommendations may be ignored or only partially implemented, undermining efforts to strengthen governance structures.

An ethical tone at the top promotes an environment of integrity and openness. This setting allows IFAs to conduct their investigations more effectively as they rely on the cooperation and honesty of other employees. When leaders emphasize ethical behavior, misconduct is less likely to be concealed, and whistleblowing is more encouraged, which aids IFAs in detecting and investigating fraud.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Ardichvili, A., Mitchell, J. A., & Jondle, D. (2009). Characteristics of ethical business cultures. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85(4), 445-451.

These leaders committed to solid governance systems will more likely allocate adequate resources for forensic accounting functions. This can include access to cutting-edge tools and technologies that enhance forensic accountants' abilities to detect and investigate discrepancies.

## **Organizational Culture**

Organizational culture constitutes the shared values, beliefs, and behaviors that determine how a company's employees and management interact<sup>26</sup>. IFAs operate within this cultural framework, influencing their effectiveness in various ways.

A resistant culture can significantly hinder IFA's efforts to investigate and uncover wrongdoing. Employees may be less willing to cooperate or provide necessary information, fearing retaliation or believing their input will not lead to constructive change.

Similarly, implementing new policies or procedures can be challenging in a culture that resists change. Improvement recommendations may be met with skepticism or outright refusal, limiting their effectiveness and the overall refinement of governance.

Whereas a culture that promotes open communication and transparency creates an environment where forensic accountants can more easily obtain the information necessary for their audits. They face less resistance and are more likely to receive support from other employees, which is critical when dealing with sensitive issues like fraud or corruption.

### 4.2. Technology

The rapid advancement of technology has reshaped the landscape of business operations and financial transactions. Big data analytics, artificial intelligence, blockchain, and the Internet are now integral to business processes. While these technologies offer tremendous benefits in terms of efficiency and scalability, they also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Ardichvili, A., Mitchell, J. A., & Jondle, D. (2009). Characteristics of ethical business cultures. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85(4), 445-451.

introduce sophisticated methods of fraud, presenting unique challenges as well as opportunities to IFAs in the areas of fraud detection.

Interview data indicates a consensus that the nature of the fraudulent activities has mostly stayed the same, but rather, how they are being committed and concealed. It is the same Ponzi scheme bundled up in technology. KPMG report released in 2016 characterized technology as facilitating fraudulent activities<sup>27</sup>. And that the same technology being used to commit these fraudulent activities is also being used to investigate the crimes amidst the challenges. Some of the challenges discussed are:

- **Complexity of the Frauds:** The sophistication of technology-enabled frauds has significantly increased. Cyber frauds, such as phishing, malware, or advanced persistent threats involving complex networks, often leave minimal traces. Blockchain technology, while enhancing transaction security, can also be used to perpetrate frauds that are difficult to trace due to their decentralized and anonymous nature.
- Data Overload: With the explosion of data generated by digital transaction devices, forensic accountants often face the challenge of sifting through vast amounts of information to identify fraudulent activities. The sheer volume and speed of data generation make it difficult to detect anomalies without the aid of advanced analytical tools. An example observed by one of the respondents was in a Class Action case claim; previously, one fraudster would probably make about 100 claims, especially those made online because they had to do most of the data entry manually, but right now, a fraudster would make over 1000 claims in a few minutes using bots. This has increased the volume of work for IFAs involved in such cases.
- **Correct data vs. wrong data**: From a data analytic perspective, one of the challenges reported by the interviewees is knowing which numbers correct and which ones are are wrong. This is especially

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> KPMG. (2016). *Profiles of the fraudster*. Retrieved from https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2016/05/profiles-of-the-fraudster.pdf

common with organizations that use multiple systems that are sometimes not linked together and produce reports with different numbers. This makes it very hard to test data for completeness and accuracy.

• Adapting to New Technologies: As new technologies continuously emerge; forensic accountants must rapidly adapt their methods and tools. This includes learning to use AI-driven analytics for pattern recognition in big data, understanding the implications of confidentiality, and staying updated on the latest cybersecurity threats.

#### 4.3 Globalization

Globalization has profoundly impacted how businesses operate, bringing with it a host of new opportunities and challenges, particularly in corporate governance and forensic accounting. As companies expand across borders, forensic accountants are increasingly called upon to navigate a complex web of international regulations and jurisdictional issues. These challenges not only complicate their work but also heighten the importance of their role in maintaining global corporate integrity.

#### • Jurisdictional Issues

One primary challenge of globalization is the variety of jurisdictional landscapes that a company might operate within. Each country has its own set of laws and regulations governing corporate practices, financial reporting, and taxation. For forensic accountants, this means that they must be well-versed in the legal frameworks of each jurisdiction in which their company operates. The discrepancies between these systems can lead to significant challenges, especially when investigating cross-border fraud or financial discrepancies<sup>28</sup>.

Even where laws are similar, their enforcement can differ. Some jurisdictions may aggressively pursue financial discrepancies and fraud, while others may have lax enforcement regimes. This variability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> KPMG. (2014). *Cross-border investigation*. KPMG. Retrieved from

https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/01/Cross-Border-Investigation-2014.pdf

affects how forensic accountants prioritize risks and design compliance programs. For example, in Uganda, corruption seems glorified by politicians, and there is a lack of enforcement even when the culprits are in caught. I recalled once the president saying that the people stealing the money are investing it back in Uganda, so they should leave them alone.

Companies must also contend with international regulations that transcend national borders, such as those imposed by the European Union or enacted through international treaties. These regulations can be particularly challenging for IFAs due to their scope and the need to harmonize them with national laws.<sup>29</sup> A noteworthy observation from the interview was that companies that follow the most stringent regulations, such as the European privacy law, Antitrust law, and expectation of good governance law, are usually less exposed to dubious activities within the organization.

#### • Cultural Challenges

Globalization also introduces cultural and ethical challenges that forensic accountants must manage. Differences in cultural norms and business practices can affect every aspect of a forensic investigation, from collecting evidence to interpreting financial activities.

Effective communication and investigation techniques can vary significantly between cultures. What is considered a straightforward inquiry in one country may be seen as rude or invasive in another, potentially hindering the investigation. Another aspect of effective communication is the language barrier<sup>30</sup>.

## 4.4 Skill Gaps and Education

As the field of forensic accounting expands and evolves in response to increasing complexities in global financial landscapes, a notable divergence has emerged between the traditional educational pathways for accountants and the specialized skills required for effective forensic practice. This gap poses significant

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>KPMG. (2014). Cross-border investigation. KPMG. Retrieved from https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/01/Cross-Border-Investigation-2014.pdf
<sup>30</sup> Ibid

challenges to forensic accountants' professional development and the overall effectiveness of corporate governance frameworks they aim to improve and support.

Forensic accounting is a field that demands a blend of accounting expertise, legal knowledge, investigative skills, and technological proficiency. As the nature and scope of financial fraud and corporate misdemeanors become more sophisticated, the following critical skill gaps have been identified during the interviews by several respondents:

- **Technological Proficiency:** In an era dominated by big data and advanced analytics, many IFAs need more training in data science and related technologies. Skills in using data analysis tools are essential for analyzing large datasets, uncovering patterns and anomalies indicative of fraudulent activities, and effectively presenting findings.
- Legal and Regulatory Knowledge: While IFAs typically have a firm grounding in accounting principles, their understanding of the legal aspects of financial crimes can be limited. Detailed knowledge of domestic and international law, especially financial regulations, rules of evidence, cyber law, and compliance standards, is crucial to be effective.
- **Investigative Techniques:** Traditional accounting education often focuses on standard bookkeeping and financial reporting without delving deeply into the investigative methodologies required for fraud detection and forensic analysis. This includes training in interviewing techniques, evidence gathering, and the psychological aspects of white-collar crime.
- **Soft Skills:** Effective communication, ethical judgment, and critical thinking are increasingly recognized as vital skills for IFAs. These professionals must interact with various departments within an organization and negotiate with and present findings to regulators, law enforcement agencies, and executives. The ability to convey complex information clearly and persuasively is essential.

#### 4.5 Ethical Issues: Dilemmas and Conflicts of Interest

By its very nature, forensic accounting involves navigating through complex ethical landscapes as IFAs frequently encounter sensitive situations that test their integrity and moral judgment. The dual roles of accountability enforcement and advisory services can create substantial ethical dilemmas and potential conflicts of interest, challenging IFAs to maintain their professional standards while effectively performing their duties. Most of the interview feedback centered around the common ethical issues discussed below.

• **Confidentiality vs. Public Interest:** IFAs often handle highly confidential information. An ethical dilemma may arise when they uncover illegal or harmful activities that have broader implications for public welfare. Deciding whether to maintain client confidentiality or to disclose information to protect the public interest can be challenging, especially when legal and contractual obligations conflict with personal ethical judgments<sup>31</sup>.

IFAs must also decide how to deal with incriminating evidence found during their investigations. Ethical considerations include determining to whom they owe their loyalty (the client, the legal system, and other stakeholders), protecting the rights of all parties' rights, and avoiding obstructing justice while respecting client confidentiality. This can sometimes take a lot of work to navigate.

- **Bias and Objectivity:** Maintaining objectivity is fundamental in forensic accounting, but personal biases, pressure from clients, or financial incentives can skew judgment. For example, when IFAs are hired by large corporations to conduct internal audits or investigations, they might face pressure to underreport or alter findings to favor their employer or client, mainly if future contracts are at stake<sup>32</sup>.
- **Conflicts of Interest:** Conflicts of interest are a critical ethical concern for IFAs, especially when their work involves strengthening corporate governance, working in compliance roles, or being hired from outside to investigate allegations of fraud. A conflict of interest arises when an IFA's personal or financial interests might compromise their judgment or objectivity in performing their duties.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Vere, Kudzanai. (2024) *Ethical issues in forensic accounting: Safeguarding financial integrity*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/380068357\_Ethical\_Issues\_in\_Forensic\_Accounting\_Safeguarding\_Financial\_Integrity
<sup>32</sup> Ibid

IFAs ensure transparency and adherence to financial regulations and standards in corporate governance. They audit financial records and processes, investigate discrepancies, and help implement compliance programs. Suppose they have a personal or financial stake in the outcomes of their investigations. In that case, their ability to function impartially is compromised, which can lead to skewed results and potentially severe consequences for the organization.

For those working in compliance, conflicts of interest might involve close personal relationships with employees whose activities they are supposed to monitor, or financial incentives tied to overlooking or underreporting issues. When forensic accountants are hired from outside to investigate fraud, they must be completely independent to provide an unbiased viewpoint. Any ties to the company or its competitors, whether financial, familial, or otherwise, could affect their findings and the report's credibility.

## 4.6 Inexperience of IFAs

According to one interviewee, inexperience among IFA professionals can significantly affect their role in enhancing corporate governance, particularly due to a lack of expertise in identifying and understanding complex financial irregularities. New professionals may not recognize significant governance issues, potentially leading to overlooked discrepancies that could have major repercussions for a company.

Further, inexperienced forensic experts might misinterpret financial data, which is crucial for accurate reporting and analysis in corporate governance. Interpretation errors can undermine trust and lead to poor decisionmaking at the corporate level. Additionally, their developing skills may not yet be adept at detecting subtle signs of fraud, allowing unethical practices to persist undetected within the organization.

Investigative skills, essential in forensic analysis, require a blend of analytical thinking, attention to detail, and intuition that are typically honed over time. Newcomers to the field may need more thoroughness and effectiveness than seasoned professionals bring to investigations, potentially compromising the integrity of their findings.

#### **Chapter 5: Opportunities**

Forensic accounting stands at the crossroads of an evolving business landscape characterized by rapid technological advancements, regulatory changes, and a growing emphasis on corporate transparency and accountability. This section explores the significant opportunities these changes present for IFAs in their effort to boost corporate governance. Across the interviews, there was a noticeable emphasis on some of the following.

#### 5.1 Lack of Awareness of IFA's work.

A general lack of awareness about forensic accounting provides IFAs with a unique opportunity to position themselves as experts in their field. By conducting workshops, seminars, and training sessions, IFAs can educate other professionals and stakeholders about the importance of their work, thereby increasing their visibility and paving the way for professional growth.

Furthermore, pursuing further certifications like Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE) or Certified in Financial Forensics (CFF) can help IFAs distinguish themselves. These certifications are proof of their expertise and commitment to the field, which can be particularly appealing to employers and clients who might need more clarification on the breadth of skills IFAs bring.

In addition, taking active roles in professional organizations like CPAs can help IFAs shape the future of this field. They can use these platforms to address common misconceptions and promote a deeper understanding of their roles, thus establishing themselves as thought leaders.

#### 5.2 Opportunity for Cybersecurity professionals and IFAs to work together to combat cyber fraud.

Instead of leaving the fight against cyber-related financial crimes to cyber security professionals, the convergence of skills between cybersecurity professionals and forensic accountants offers a powerful approach to combating cyber financial crimes.

Cybersecurity professionals are experts in safeguarding data and systems from unauthorized access and attacks, while IFAs have deep knowledge of financial systems and fraud detection. Together, they can design more secure financial systems that are reliable against cyber-attacks and equipped with sophisticated fraud detection algorithms. Cybersecurity professionals can implement technical safeguards, such as encryption and secure access protocols, while IFAs can ensure these measures align with financial compliance and audit requirements.

By combining their skills, these professionals can also create a comprehensive defense and response strategy against cybercrimes involving financial data. For instance, while cybersecurity experts can implement and monitor advanced intrusion detection systems to prevent unauthorized access, forensic accountants can analyze any data breaches for patterns of fraudulent transactions. Together, they can address vulnerabilities and assist in the recovery efforts by providing detailed forensic analysis that supports legal proceedings against perpetrators. Furthermore, their collaborative efforts can aid in developing more robust compliance programs and internal controls that integrate cutting-edge technology and rigorous financial scrutiny. This synergy enhances an organization's capability to effectively safeguard against, detect, and respond to sophisticated cyber financial crimes.

#### 5.3 Emerging Technologies

AI and machine learning are revolutionizing how IFAs perform fraud detection and risk management. These technologies enable the analysis of vast amounts of data with speed and accuracy that human analysts cannot match. AI can identify patterns and anomalies in financial data that might indicate fraudulent activities, thus allowing forensic accountants to act quickly and prevent potential losses. Additionally, machine learning algorithms improve over time, continuously enhancing their effectiveness in fraud detection<sup>33</sup>.

Moreover, blockchain technology offers transformative potential for the integrity of financial transactions. By creating an immutable ledger of transactions, blockchain technology can significantly reduce the opportunities for fraud. For IFAs, blockchain can serve as a reliable source of evidence since the data it contains is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> J.S. Held. (2023). Detecting Fraud Using Emerging Technology: Don't Be Afraid to Innovate. Retrieved from https://www.jsheld.com/insights/articles/detecting-fraud-using-emerging-technology-dont-be-afraid-to-innovate
transparent and tamper-proof. In corporate governance, blockchain can enhance the transparency of financial transactions and shareholder activities, providing a clearer picture of corporate health and ensuring compliance with regulatory standards<sup>34</sup>.

# **5.4 Regulatory Evolution**

The evolution of laws and regulations often presents various opportunities for professions closely tied to compliance and oversight, such as forensic accounting. IFAs, by their training and expertise, are uniquely positioned to assist corporations in navigating the complexities of new and changing regulations. For instance, enhancements in financial reporting standards, anti-fraud regulations, or changes in tax law can expand the role of forensic accountants in ensuring adherence to these standards. They often become integral in developing systems that detect and prevent fraud, enhancing corporate governance. This trend is highlighted in academic journals and industry reports, which suggest that as regulatory demands increase, so does the reliance on forensic experts to interpret and implement these rules effectively.

Moreover, recent regulatory changes, such as those introduced by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in the United States, have increased demand for forensic accounting services. This legislation was designed to improve corporate governance, financial transparency, and the accuracy of corporate disclosures. Forensic accountants are increasingly involved in auditing financial practices to ensure compliance with such regulations, conducting investigations into potential breaches, and advising on the consequences of regulatory violations. Their role extends beyond mere compliance; they contribute to shaping ethical practices and frameworks within organizations. Government bodies and regulatory agencies often publish insights and guidelines indicating a growing scope for forensic accountants to strengthen governance structures<sup>35</sup>.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Integrity Forensic. (2023). The Impact of Blockchain Technology on Forensic Accounting: Unlocking New Possibilities. Retrieved from https://integrityforensic.com/the-impact-of-blockchain-technology-on-forensic-accounting-unlocking-new-possibilities/
<sup>35</sup> EY. (2021). Sarbanes-Oxley: 20 years of improved audit oversight. Retrieved from

https://www.ey.com/en\_us/insights/assurance/sarbanes-oxley-20-years-of-improved-audit-oversight

Finally, the globalization of business operations has necessitated a nuanced understanding of local and international regulations affecting corporate governance. Forensic accountants are thus called upon to provide expertise across various jurisdictions, aligning corporate practices with diverse regulatory environments<sup>36</sup>. This includes ensuring compliance with anti-money laundering (AML) standards, international tax laws, and cross-border financial reporting requirements. Professional associations like the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE) provide resources, training, and certification for forensic accountants, underscoring their evolving role in a globalized business context. This expanding landscape increases opportunities for forensic accountants and places them at the forefront of advocating for robust, transparent, and accountable corporate governance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>EY. (2021). Sarbanes-Oxley: 20 years of improved audit oversight. Retrieved from https://www.ey.com/en\_us/insights/assurance/sarbanes-oxley-20-years-of-improved-audit-oversight

#### **Chapter 6: Case Studies**

Case studies are invaluable in illustrating the practical roles and impacts of IFAs in corporate governance. By examining real-world scenarios, these case studies will provide detailed insights into the crucial role IFAs play in maintaining transparency, integrity, and accountability within corporations. Through these narratives, readers gain a deeper understanding of how forensic accountants contribute to enforcing compliance with regulations, uncovering fraudulent activities, and ultimately supporting the pillars of good corporate governance. These case studies serve as educational tools and a testament to the vital importance of forensic accounting in the modern business landscape.

#### 6.1 Sino-Forest Corporation-Background

Sino-Forest Corporation, established in 1994, quickly positioned itself as a significant player in the forestry industry within China, primarily involved in the ownership and management of forest plantations and the manufacturing of engineered wood products. It was headquartered in Toronto, Canada, and traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange, with operations that purportedly spanned across several provinces in China. Sino-Forest's business model and geographical focus made it a channel for international investors eager to capitalize on China's thriving economic expansion, particularly in natural resources<sup>37</sup>.

As Sino-Forest's market value soared, reaching a peak of over \$6 billion, it drew attention and investment from some of the world's largest institutional investors and hedge funds. The company was often touted as one of China's largest and most successful forestry operators. It claimed to manage millions of acres of forest land under long-term leases and engaged in the sale of standing timber and wood products, which reportedly generated substantial revenues<sup>38</sup>.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Matthew G Yeager "Global corporate crime and the Sino Forest fraud in Canada," medcraveonline.com, January 2, 2019, https://medcraveonline.com/SIJ/global-corporate-crime-and-the-sino-forest-fraud-in-nbspcanada.html
<sup>38</sup> Ibid

The company's rise was marked by aggressive marketing and solid financial reports that showcased impressive growth in revenue and assets. However, the lack of transparency and the complexity of its business operations started raising eyebrows among analysts and investors. Despite these concerns, the company managed to maintain investor confidence until 2011, when a damning report by Muddy Waters Research accused Sino-Forest of being a "Ponzi scheme"<sup>39</sup> and alleged that the company had grossly misrepresented the value of its assets and revenues.

The allegations triggered a massive sell-off in Sino-Forest's shares, and the company came under intense scrutiny from regulatory bodies, including the Ontario Securities Commission (OSC). The scandal also attracted global media attention, casting a shadow over the credibility of foreign-listed Chinese companies and shaking investor confidence in similar enterprises.

As the investigations deepened, the complexities of verifying Sino-Forest's claims about its assets became a focal point, leading to a broader discussion about regulatory oversight and corporate governance challenges in cross-border operations involving emerging markets. The unfolding of the Sino-Forest saga marked a pivotal moment in the global financial community, highlighting the potential risks involved in international investments and the critical need for robust verification and transparency mechanisms.

# 6.1.1 How fraud was committed.

The fraud perpetrated by Sino-Forest Corporation was multi-faceted and ingeniously concealed, utilizing various methods that exploited regulatory, geographical, and financial complexities. Here's a detailed explanation of how the fraud was executed and hidden:

#### Fictitious transactions that led to overstating Assets and Revenues

Sino-Forest's principal strategy for fraud was the significant overstatement of its forest assets and the revenues derived from them. The company claimed ownership of vast tracts of forest land in remote areas of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> James O'Toole. (2012, April 3). Sino Forest sues muddy water for defamation, CNNMoney.com, https://money.cnn.com/2012/04/02/markets/sino-forest-muddy-waters/index.htm

China, which went largely unchecked by investors and regulators due to the difficulties and costs associated with physical verification. These assets were reported in the company's financial statements at highly inflated values. Additionally, Sino-Forest reported sales transactions of timber that vastly overstated its revenue and financial position due to the overvalued asset prices and volumes. This practice misled investors about the company's profitability and artificially enhanced its market value<sup>40</sup>.

# **Examples of Fictitious Transactions**

- **Duplication of Asset Sales:** In transactions identified as the Dacheng Transactions, Sino-Forest recorded the sale of the same assets in both the BVI and WFOE models. These fictitious transactions inflated the company's financial statements by approximately \$30 million in assets and \$48 million in revenue over different fiscal years.
- **Reverse-Engineered Contracts:** Over 450 purchase and sales transactions were purportedly executed in the same quarter but were reverse-engineered. This manipulation was done with the full knowledge and support of top executives, and these contracts had no natural economic substance. They were crafted to deceive the CFO and auditors, resulting in an overstated revenue of about \$30 million<sup>41</sup>.
- Inflated Sales Contracts: The Gengma #1 and #2 transactions involved creating fictitious purchase contracts to inflate the value of forest assets over several years. In 2010 alone, fictitious sales contracts led to Sino-Forest overstating its revenue by as much as \$231 million. These assets were, in fact, never sold, marking a significant misstatement in financial records<sup>42</sup>.

These fabricated transactions were part of a broader strategy to portray a highly profitable operation by cycling funds through related parties and back into the company, thus creating the illusion of substantial business activity and financial stability. This facade of profitability and asset ownership was crucial in maintaining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Ontario Securities Commission, In the matter of Sino-Forest Corporation, Allen Chan, Albert Ip, Alfred C.T. Hung, George Ho, Simon Yeung, and David Horsley, Case No. 2018 ONSEC 37,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Ibid

<sup>42</sup> Ibid

investor confidence and the company's stock price, ultimately influencing the market's perception of Sino-Forest as a viable investment.

# **Complicated Corporate Structure**

Sino-Forest engineered a highly complex corporate structure involving numerous subsidiaries, affiliates, and holding companies, many of which are registered in offshore jurisdictions like the British Virgin Islands (BVI). These companies, benefiting from lax regulatory standards and requirements for financial transparency, were perfect vehicles for masking the true nature of economic activities and the movement of funds. By routing transactions through these entities, Sino-Forest managed to obscure the origins and destinations of funds, making detecting fraud more challenging for regulators and forensic investigators. This complexity served multiple fraudulent purposes<sup>43</sup>.

- The layered structure obscured the company's actual financial flows, making it challenging for auditors and investors to trace money and verify actual operations.
- By distributing assets across multiple entities, Sino-Forest shielded them from scrutiny and made ownership verification nearly impossible for external parties.
- Using offshore entities helped evade stricter financial scrutiny and regulatory requirements that might be enforced in more stringent jurisdictions.

The combination of these methods created a formidable barrier to detecting and understanding the fraud at Sino-Forest, illustrating the challenges faced by investors, regulators, and auditors in navigating the complex web of international corporate operations. The case of Sino-Forest is a textbook example of how layered deceit in a globalized business environment can be engineered and concealed, requiring vigilant oversight and rigorous investigative approaches to uncover.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Ontario Securities Commission, In the matter of Sino-Forest Corporation, Allen Chan, Albert Ip, Alfred C.T. Hung, George Ho, Simon Yeung, and David Horsley, Case No. 2018 ONSEC 37

# 6.1.2 How IFAs at OSC helped in the Investigation of the Fraud

Forensic accountants at the Ontario Security Commission were essential in unraveling the complex web of deceit at Sino-Forest, employing various specialized techniques and methodologies. Their work was crucial in exposing the fraud and providing detailed evidence instrumental in the following legal and regulatory actions. Their contributions included the following:

#### **Detailed Examination of Financial Records**

IFAs embarked on a careful review of Sino-Forest's financial statements, ledgers, and supporting documents. This deep dive into the company's books involved tracing the flow of funds and scrutinizing the accounting entries for each reported transaction. The IFAs looked for discrepancies and anomalies in financial reporting, such as unexplained revenues, disproportionate asset valuations, and irregular cash flows. They traced transactions through the complex network of subsidiaries and related companies, uncovering layers of obfuscation intended to hide the movement and origins of funds.

Import and export data and sales records provided insight into Sino-Forest's actual timber volume, allowing investigators to compare these figures with the company's reported sales and inventory levels.

# **On-the-Ground Verification**

Recognizing that paper trails and digital records could only reveal part of the story, forensic teams conducted physical site visits to the locations in China where Sino-Forest claimed to have significant forestry assets. These on-the-ground verifications were crucial, as they provided tangible evidence regarding the existence and condition of the assets. In many instances, the teams discovered that the actual forestry assets needed to be more present or vastly more minor and less valuable than reported. Information about land ownership, commercial licenses, and regulatory compliance records expected to support Sino-Forest's claims about the extent of its timber assets were scrutinized. This direct observational approach helped corroborate findings from document analyses and was vital in challenging the company's official asset valuations.

#### **Analysis of Third-Party Relationships**

One of the more sophisticated aspects of the forensic accountants' role involved dissecting the relationships between Sino-Forest and its alleged third-party customers and suppliers. By examining contracts, payment records, and correspondence, the accountants identified patterns and links that suggested many of these "third parties" were not independent entities but firms with hidden ties to Sino-Forest executives or entities controlled by them. This revelation about related-party transactions was significant, as it demonstrated intentional deceit in representing these transactions as legitimate arms-length business deals, thereby inflating revenue and misleading investors and regulators.

#### Collaboration with legal, regulators, and law enforcement

IFAs also worked closely with legal teams, regulators, and law enforcement agencies nationally and internationally, providing them with detailed reports and evidence packs used in tribunal legal proceedings and regulatory actions. Their findings were crucial in painting a comprehensive picture of the fraud for the tribunal and regulatory bodies, leading to decisive actions against Sino-Forest and its executives.

#### **Interviews and Testimonies**

IFAs interviewed various stakeholders, including company executives, employees, and auditors. These interviews helped gather insights into Sino-Forest's operational practices and internal controls.

The role of forensic accountants in the Sino-Forest case underscores the importance of financial expertise in investigating and understanding complex corporate fraud. Their work not only revealed the deceit at Sino-Forest but also highlighted the vital role of forensic accounting in maintaining corporate integrity and protecting investor interests in increasingly convoluted global markets.

# 6.1.3 Lessons Learned from the Sino Forest Scandal

The Sino-Forest case presents several critical lessons in corporate governance, particularly regarding transparency, accountability, and the ethical responsibilities of corporate officers. Here are some key takeaways:

## Importance of due diligence and verification

One of the crucial lessons from the Sino-Forest fraud case is that investors and auditors need to verify a company's claims independently. Relying solely on company-reported data can be perilous, particularly in industries with inherently complex operations, such as forestry in remote regions. Sino-Forest claimed extensive forestry assets and impressive growth, which were later revealed to be grossly inflated. Investors and auditors must go beyond the surface-level information provided by the company and employ thorough, independent checks. This includes physical inspections, cross-referencing third-party data, and verifying the existence and value of claimed assets. For instance, the failure to independently verify Sino-Forest's reported assets and revenues led to investors misled by fabricated transactions and non-existent resources<sup>44</sup>.

Furthermore, extraordinary growth claims should always be approached with skepticism and subjected to rigorous scrutiny. In the case of Sino-Forest, the company reported explosive growth and substantial profitability, which attracted numerous high-profile investors. However, such claims often warrant deeper investigation to understand the underlying business model and validate its feasibility. Analysts and investors should evaluate whether the reported growth aligns with industry trends and realistic operational capacities. The Sino-Forest scandal underscores the importance of questioning and validating high-growth claims through independent research and due diligence. This means looking for inconsistencies in financial statements, conducting field visits, and consulting industry experts to ensure the growth is not artificially inflated<sup>45</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Kirby, J. (2014, September 3). The red flags raised by the Sino-Forest case. Maclean's. https://macleans.ca/economy/economicanalysis/the-red-flags-raised-by-the-sino-forest-case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> BNN Bloomberg. (2017, July 14). OSC rules Sino-Forest defrauded investors and misled investigators. BNN Bloomberg. https://www.bnnbloomberg.ca/osc-rules-sino-forest-defrauded-investors-and-misled-investigators-1.804706

#### **Demand for Transparency and Accountability**

Investors should insist on clear and transparent information regarding a company's operations, revenue sources, and business practices. In the Sino-Forest case, the company's lack of transparency was a significant red flag that contributed to the eventual exposure of its fraudulent activities. Sino-Forest's management should have provided detailed disclosures about its operations, the identity of its business partners, and the nature of its transactions. This opacity made it difficult for investors and auditors to verify the authenticity of the company's reported assets and revenues. To mitigate such risks, investors must demand comprehensive and transparent information, including detailed financial statements, descriptions of business processes, and transparency about third-party relationships. This level of openness allows for better assessment and validation of a company's claims, helping to prevent investment in fraudulent schemes<sup>46</sup>.

Moreover, effective corporate governance requires clear accountability structures within a company's management and board. Independent directors are critical in ensuring that management actions are adequately overseen and that financial reports are accurate. In the case of Sino-Forest, the lack of precise oversight mechanisms allowed the company's executives to engage in deceitful practices without detection. Independent directors should be empowered to question management decisions, conduct thorough reviews of financial reports, and ensure compliance with regulatory requirements. They should also have the authority to initiate independent investigations when necessary. The involvement of independent directors in auditing and governance processes adds an extra layer of scrutiny, which can deter fraudulent activities and promote a culture of accountability and transparency within the organization<sup>47</sup>.

# **Role of Auditors**

In the wake of the Sino-Forest fraud, it is evident that auditors must extend their responsibilities beyond mere financial statement checks. Or at least ensure they have an experienced IFA on the engagement team.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Ontario Securities Commission. (2012). Statement of allegations in the matter of Sino-Forest Corporation, Allen Chan, Albert Ip, Alfred C.T. Hung, George Ho, Simon Yeung, and David Horsley. Ontario Securities Commission.
<sup>47</sup> Ibid

They must engage in multi-source verification to identify discrepancies or fraud. The Sino-Forest case revealed significant weaknesses in traditional auditing practices, where reliance on company-provided data and insufficient fieldwork led to the oversight of fraudulent claims. Auditors should employ a more hands-on approach, visiting physical sites to verify the existence and condition of assets and cross-referencing information with third-party records.<sup>48</sup> By integrating advanced auditing techniques and technologies, such as forensic accounting and data analytics, auditors can enhance their ability to detect anomalies and prevent fraud. This proactive and thorough approach is crucial in high-risk industries and regions where transparency and regulatory oversight may be limited.

# **Need for Stringent Regulatory Oversight**

To effectively detect and prevent fraud, regulators must enhance their oversight mechanisms. This includes implementing random and surprise inspections to catch discrepancies that regular audits might miss. The Sino-Forest case highlighted the inadequacy of existing regulatory frameworks, where a lack of stringent enforcement and oversight allowed fraudulent activities to go unchecked for years. Regulators should enforce stricter disclosure requirements, ensuring companies provide detailed and verifiable information about their operations and financial health. Enhanced transparency and accountability can be achieved by mandating more frequent and comprehensive reporting, coupled with severe penalties for non-compliance. The Ontario Securities Commission (OSC) and other regulatory bodies must adopt a proactive stance, utilizing advanced technologies and data analytics to monitor and analyze financial data for early signs of fraud<sup>49</sup>.

Additionally, given the increasingly global nature of business operations, international cooperation among regulatory bodies is crucial for effective oversight and action against fraud. The Sino-Forest scandal involved transactions across multiple countries, demonstrating regulators' challenges in a globalized economy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Craig Wong. (2012, December 4). Auditor accused of failings in Sino-Forest debacle. *Times Colonist*. Retrieved May 13, 2024, from https://www.timescolonist.com/business/auditor-accused-of-failings-in-sino-forest-debacle-4568085

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP. (2017, July 14). OSC releases long-awaited decision in Sino-Forest. *Risk Management*. Retrieved from https://www.osler.com/en/blogs/risk/july-2017/osc-releases-long-awaited-decision-in-sino-forest

Effective fraud detection and prevention require coordinated efforts, information sharing, and mutual assistance among regulatory agencies worldwide. International cooperation can facilitate the exchange of crucial data, joint investigations, and harmonizing regulatory standards. By working together, regulators can close loopholes exploited by fraudsters who operate across borders, ensuring that fraudulent activities are swiftly identified and addressed regardless of where they occur.

# **Investor Education and Awareness**

Investors must be educated about the inherent risks of investing in specific regions and industries. The Sino-Forest case underscores the importance of understanding the challenges and risks of the market in which a company operates. For example, forestry in remote areas of China posed significant verification challenges, which investors needed to address adequately. Education programs and resources should equip investors with the knowledge to identify potential red flags, such as discrepancies between reported assets and actual site conditions or the complexity of a company's operational structure. Additionally, investors should be encouraged to conduct their due diligence rather than relying solely on information provided by the company or third-party analysts. This involves verifying claims through independent research, consulting industry experts, and using forensic accounting tools to uncover inconsistencies.

Similarly, recognizing and acting on warning signs is crucial for investors to avoid potential fraud. Overly complex corporate structures, lack of operational transparency, and inconsistent financial reports are significant red flags that should prompt further investigation. The Sino-Forest scandal revealed how these red flags were present but overlooked by many. For instance, the company's complex web of subsidiaries and cloudy dealings with third parties made it difficult to trace the flow of funds and verify the authenticity of its reported assets. Investors should be trained to identify such signs and take proactive steps to validate the information. This might include scrutinizing the company's financial health, seeking third-party validation of claims, and being wary of companies reluctant to provide detailed information about their operations and financials. Through education and heightened awareness, investors can better protect themselves from fraudulent schemes and make more informed investment decisions.

47

#### **Necessity for Strong Corporate Governance Frameworks:**

Establishing solid corporate governance frameworks is crucial for ensuring ethical conduct and preventing fraudulent activities within companies. This includes implementing independent directors who can provide unbiased oversight and hold management accountable. Independent directors should not have any financial ties to the company, ensuring their decisions are based solely on the shareholders' best interests and the company's integrity. Additionally, a robust internal audit function is essential. Internal auditors should regularly review the company's operations and financial practices to detect irregularities early.

The Sino-Forest case highlighted the catastrophic consequences of weak corporate governance, where insufficient oversight allowed fraudulent activities to continue unchecked. Strengthening governance frameworks can mitigate such risks by ensuring that checks and balances are in place to monitor and guide corporate behavior effectively.

Also, encouraging a culture where employees can report suspicious activities without fear of retaliation is vital for uncovering fraud early. Whistleblower protections can empower employees to speak up about unethical practices, providing an essential defense against fraud. In many cases, employees are the first to notice discrepancies or unethical behavior, but fear of retaliation can prevent them from reporting these issues. Solid whistleblower protection policies ensure that employees can report misconduct confidentially without fear of losing their jobs or facing other reprisals. The Sino-Forest scandal demonstrated the need for such protections, as internal reports and warnings might have surfaced sooner if employees felt secure in reporting their concerns. By fostering an environment where whistleblowers are protected and valued, companies can more effectively identify and address potential fraud before it escalates.

The Sino-Forest case serves as a stark reminder of the consequences of failing to uphold high standards of corporate governance and the importance of rigorous internal and external checks to maintain corporate integrity.

#### 6.2 Enron Scandal-Background

The Enron scandal, which came to light in 2001, remains one of history's most egregious examples of corporate fraud. The scandal centered around the vast financial deceit orchestrated by Enron's executives, which ultimately led to the company's bankruptcy and the dissolution of Arthur Andersen, one of the world's five largest audit and accountancy partnerships. Forensic accountants were crucial in uncovering the scandal's details, which involved complex financial structures designed to hide debt off Enron's balance sheet and inflate profit figures.

Enron was founded in 1985 by merging Houston Natural Gas and InterNorth. Under the leadership of CEO Jeffrey Skilling and CFO Andrew Fastow, Enron shifted from a traditional energy company to a diversified enterprise involved in various sectors, including energy trading, broadband services, and other commodities. The company was praised for its innovative business model and rapid growth, achieving a peak market capitalization of nearly \$70 billion in 20001. However, beneath the surface, Enron's apparent success was built on a foundation of fraudulent accounting practices and unethical corporate strategies<sup>50</sup>.

The unraveling of Enron's deceit began in 2001 when a series of investigations by journalists, analysts, and regulators exposed the depth of the financial mismanagement. The scandal reached its zenith in December 2001 when Enron filed for bankruptcy, marking the largest corporate bankruptcy in U.S. history. The fallout was immense, leading to significant financial losses for shareholders, employees, and other stakeholders<sup>51</sup>.

The Enron scandal remains a seminal case study in corporate ethics. It illustrates the devastating effects of greed, lack of oversight, and fraudulent financial practices. It underscores the critical importance of transparency, ethical behavior, and robust regulatory frameworks in maintaining the integrity of financial markets and protecting investors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (2003). The Fall of Enron. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 17(2), 3-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Benston, G. J., & Hartgraves, A. L. (2002). Enron: What Happened and What We Can Learn from It. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 21(2), 105-127

#### 6.2.1 How Fraud Was Committed

Central to the fraud were unique purpose entities (SPEs). Enron's executives, including CEO Jeffrey Skilling and CFO Andrew Fastow, devised an elaborate scheme to keep the company's financial losses and mounting debts off the books. This involved using unique purpose entities (SPEs)-separate companies created to manage specific assets and liabilities without appearing on Enron's main balance sheet. These SPEs were used to borrow money and conduct other risky transactions while keeping the debt load and actual financial risk hidden from investors and creditors<sup>52</sup>.

Moreover, Enron used mark-to-market accounting, a technique that involves recording the value of a security or portfolio at its current market value instead of its book value. This practice allowed Enron to record projected future profits as actual profits, significantly inflating the company's financial health to the public and its shareholders. The manipulation of financial statements was further facilitated by a culture of greed and aggressive pursuit of profits at any cost, where ethical considerations were routinely disregarded in favor of short-term economic gains<sup>53</sup>.

Enron also exploited loopholes in accounting regulations and enlisted the help of major financial institutions to create complex financial instruments and transactions that masked the company's actual financial condition. This included the use of off-balance-sheet financing and derivative contracts that obscured the real risks and liabilities faced by the company. The collaboration of these institutions, driven by the lucrative fees earned from these transactions, played a crucial role in enabling Enron's deceptive practices.<sup>54</sup>

The role of Arthur Andersen, Enron's auditing firm, further compounded the issue. Arthur Andersen's auditors were deeply intertwined with Enron's financial operations, often disregarding the company's dubious

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (2003). The Fall of Enron. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 17(2), 3-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Ibid

<sup>54</sup> Ibid

accounting practices in exchange for lucrative consulting fees. This conflict of interest compromised the integrity of the audits and facilitated the continuation of fraudulent activities<sup>55</sup>.

#### 6.2.2 Role of Forensic Accountants in Uncovering the Fraud.

#### **Detailed Analysis of Financial Statements**

IFAs began by examining Enron's financial statements and accounting records. They scrutinized the company's reported profits, losses, and balance sheets, looking for inconsistencies and irregularities. This involved comparing financial statements over several years to identify patterns of deceptive accounting practices and discrepancies that suggested manipulation. By analyzing these documents, forensic accountants uncovered Enron's financial position, revealing the extent of the hidden debts and fabricated profits.

#### **Tracing Money Flows**

One of the critical tasks undertaken by forensic accountants was tracing the flow of money between Enron and its Special Purpose Entities (SPEs). This involved following the complex financial transactions designed to move debts and losses off Enron's books. Forensic accountants analyzed bank records, transaction logs, and internal documents to map out how funds were transferred and used within the network of SPEs. This detailed tracing allowed them to demonstrate how these entities were not independent but rather part of a scheme to conceal Enron's financial troubles.

#### **Uncovering Off-Balance-Sheet Financing**

Forensic accountants delved into the off-balance-sheet financing arrangements that Enron used to hide its liabilities. They examined the structure and terms of these financial instruments, including derivative contracts and complex financial deals. By understanding the nature and purpose of these instruments, forensic accountants could demonstrate how they were used to distort Enron's financial statements and mislead

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Benston, G. J., & Hartgraves, A. L. (2002). Enron: What Happened and What We Can Learn from It. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 21(2), 105-127

investors. This analysis was crucial in showing the deliberate intent behind these transactions and their role in the overall fraud.

# Work with Legal Authority to Provide Expert Reports and Testimony

IFAs worked closely with legal authorities throughout the investigation, including regulators, law enforcement agencies, and the judiciary. They provided expert testimony and detailed reports explaining the fraud's intricacies to non-experts. Their findings were essential in building the case against Enron's executives and other involved parties. Forensic accountants also helped identify and preserve critical evidence, ensuring it could be used effectively in legal proceedings.

# **Recommending Reforms and Improvements**

Beyond uncovering the fraud, IFAs played a significant role in recommending reforms to prevent similar occurrences in the future. They highlighted weaknesses in corporate governance, accounting standards, and regulatory oversight that had allowed the Enron fraud undetected for so long. Their insights contributed to developing new policies and regulations, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to enhance financial transparency and accountability in the corporate sector.

# 6.2.3 Lessons Learned from the Enron Scandal

The collapse of Enron had profound implications for corporate governance and financial reporting standards:

#### **Importance of Transparency and Disclosure**

The Enron scandal underscored the critical need for transparency in financial reporting. It highlighted how the lack of clear, honest disclosure can lead to significant distortions of company health and risk major economic fallout. Transparent financial practices are essential to provide stakeholders with accurate information about a company's actual financial position and performance.<sup>56</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (2003). The Fall of Enron. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 17(2), 3-26.

# Need for Strengthening Regulatory Oversight

In response to the scandal, the U.S. Congress enacted the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which imposed more stringent recordkeeping and auditing standards to prevent similar fraud cases. This act enhanced the responsibilities of financial executives and increased penalties for fraudulent financial activity. It also established the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) to oversee the audits of public companies, thereby strengthening regulatory oversight<sup>57</sup>.

#### **Role of Independent Audits**

Enron's case highlighted the importance of independent and rigorous auditing practices. Auditing firms must maintain objectivity and not become too closely aligned with their clients. The scandal led to significant changes in the regulation of audit firms and increased scrutiny of their practices. Ensuring auditors' independence is crucial to preventing conflicts of interest and maintaining the integrity of the audit process<sup>58</sup>.

# **Ethical Corporate Governance**

The Enron scandal demonstrated the devastating impact of unethical behavior in corporate governance. It emphasized the need for strong ethical standards and corporate governance practices prioritizing the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders over short-term profits. Companies must foster a culture of integrity and accountability, where moral considerations are integral to decision-making processes.

#### **Enhanced Role of Forensic Accountants**

The scandal highlighted the invaluable role of forensic accountants in detecting and investigating sophisticated financial schemes. Their expertise is crucial in responding to suspicions of fraud and regular oversight and review of corporate finances to prevent such occurrences. Forensic accountants are essential in maintaining corporate accountability and transparency.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act.
<sup>58</sup> Ibid

# **Re-evaluation of Executive Compensation**

The Enron scandal brought attention to the problematic nature of executive compensation structures that reward short-term performance at the expense of long-term stability and ethical conduct. Companies are encouraged to design compensation packages that align the interests of executives with those of shareholders, promoting sustainable growth and ethical behavior<sup>59</sup>.

In conclusion, the Enron scandal provided a watershed moment in corporate governance, significantly altering how companies must manage and disclose their financial practices. It also solidified the role of forensic accountants as essential guardians of financial integrity and corporate transparency. The lessons learned from Enron continue to shape the regulatory landscape and corporate behavior, emphasizing the importance of ethical conduct, transparency, and robust oversight in maintaining the health and stability of financial markets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Thu Nguyen. (2021, June 11). A lesson on ethical organizational culture from the Enron scandal. JobHopin. Retrieved May 13, 2024, from https://www.jobhopin.com/blog/a-lesson-on-ethical-organizational-culture-from-the-enron-scandal/

#### **Chapter 7: Conclusion and Recommendations**

The research into the role of Investigative and Forensic Accountants (IFAs) in enhancing corporate governance has yielded significant insights into these professionals' contributions and challenges. Corporate governance, fundamentally aimed at ensuring transparency, accountability, and ethical management, finds a strong ally in forensic accounting, which serves as a critical mechanism for fraud detection, risk management, and compliance enforcement.

# **Key Findings**

IFAs are pivotal in identifying vulnerabilities within corporate systems and recommending improvements. Their expertise in auditing, risk assessment, compliance, and fraud investigation strengthen corporate governance frameworks. IFAs help organizations proactively manage risks and uphold ethical standards by implementing more robust controls and regular reviews.

Using models such as the Fraud Triangle, IFAs address the core components facilitating fraud opportunity, pressure, and rationalization. By developing strong internal controls, promoting ethical policies, and reinforcing a culture of integrity, IFAs can help corporations significantly reduce the likelihood of fraudulent activities.

IFAs ensure adherence to laws and regulations by conducting thorough compliance audits and developing strategies to prevent future compliance issues. Their advisory roles include crafting tailored compliance programs and providing essential training to foster a compliance-focused workplace culture.

The research also highlights several challenges IFAs face, including cultural resistance, technological complexities, globalization, and ethical dilemmas. A resistant organizational culture and an unethical tone at the top can significantly hinder IFAs' efforts. Additionally, the rapid advancement of technology and the intricate nature of global operations pose significant challenges that require continuous adaptation and skills improvement.

Despite the challenges, the evolving business landscape offers significant opportunities for IFAs. Integrating advanced technologies like AI and blockchain can revolutionize fraud detection and risk management. Furthermore, the increasing focus on regulatory compliance and the need for robust corporate governance frameworks emphasizes the growing importance of forensic accounting.

The case studies of Sino-Forest and Enron exemplify the catastrophic consequences of inadequate corporate governance and the critical need for rigorous oversight. These cases highlight the importance of independent verification, transparency, and stringent regulatory frameworks in preventing financial scandals.

Moving forward, organizations must invest in strong corporate governance structures and embrace the expertise of forensic accountants. By doing so, they can mitigate the risks of financial misconduct and build a resilient corporate environment that fosters trust and sustainability.

Future research should explore the impact of emerging technologies such as AI and blockchain on forensic accounting practices and their effectiveness in fraud detection. There is limited research in these areas.

In conclusion, the role of IFAs in enhancing corporate governance is crucial and expansive. Their ability to detect and prevent fraud, ensure regulatory compliance, and navigate complex ethical landscapes is fundamental to the integrity and success of modern corporations. As the business environment continues to evolve, the contributions of forensic accountants will remain vital in upholding the principles of good governance and safeguarding the interests of all stakeholders.

# **APPENDICES**

# **Appendix 1: Interview Summary Notes.**

- 1. Can you describe the possible responsibilities you foresee for an IFA within a corporate governance framework? How do you believe IFAs contribute to strengthening corporate governance?
  - We hired as an IFAs to review specific processes, strengthening corporate governance. For example, would be hired to look at the procurement process; specifically, the IFA would put a lens on it to understand the fraud risks.
  - Data analytics, like forensic data analytics, look for instances of potentially duplicate payments, fictitious vendors, unusual payments, and so on. That ends up being part of the governance structure to help, whether internal audit, compliance, or the finance or accounting side of the business, get strengthened or at least understand what anomalies exist in their processes and transactions.
  - From the inside, especially large corporations, I'll use financial institutions as an example, employee forensic accountants, either for corporate security, their investigations, outside investigations, or internal investigations.
  - In the Compliance department, forensic accountants will work very closely with compliance, but they have a different role. You're not looking here to ensure everything is operating as it should. It's not all that you step in when there are indicators that something is wrong. And you need to do a full-on investigation as opposed to an audit.
  - Our power as Forensic Accountants is understanding the corporate structures in which we work. We help legal counsel understand if there's an issue internally, especially if someone is not following the rules of a specific corporation, for example, if someone is using corruption to obtain contracts.

- Experiences, having that high level of involvement in all kinds of companies and being allowed to discuss corporate governance and internal controls with various firms, provides that experience to say, hey, this might not be causing you an issue right now. Still, I've seen it as an issue or where this happens, and then there's an issue. It comes from experience, at least from my perspective. And that can assist with corporate governance.
- We'll see more of this shortly as the PCAOB has put front and center as part of their agenda, and they propose rules for auditors. They're looking to have the auditors increase their focus on fines and penalties for non-compliance with laws and regulations. So, when you think about what that means in practice, forensic professionals play an increasing role, particularly as the financial statement audit rules and role of the auditor change or may change over the next year. Governance can take many shapes and forms, but when I'm speaking about governance, it comes down to compliance with laws and regulations. And by and large, that's wrapped up in ethics and compliance responsibilities under governance. And with that, there's a well-established framework for evaluating ethics compliance programs established by the US Department of Justice.
- They've got an assessment, helping with the training necessary for an Ethics Compliance Program. We're helping with the third-party due diligence that's part of the requirement for good ethics compliance programs. We're helping with that ongoing monitoring. So, not all forensics is truly reactive where we're building and helping our clients with data analytics and then going in and doing some of the testing afterward. So, it's end-to-end policies and procedures. Well, it's not typical that forensic accountants are heavily involved in writing policies and procedures. Part of what forensics and professionals like myself do is know what kind of policies should exist where there are gaps in policies that don't exist that our client should have. We're pointing those out and pointing out where specific sections are missing.

# 2. What are some of the most significant challenges an IFA faces to when endeavoring to enhance corporate governance?

• From a data-centric perspective, there is often not a single instance of the truth regarding what the data looks like. The client could have different systems that give you various reports and numbers, and you need to know the right one. So that's something that is a challenge concerning helping them

understand what the risks are. But if you know the accurate numbers, it's easier for us to do our job correctly.

- It starts with the culture of the organization. If you're not supported by senior management, it isn't going to work. There needs to be a tone at the top. You're only as strong; your powers are only as strong as the ones you're empowered with if they are, even if you find problems if senior management does not dare to want to address them or the desire. And basically, you're just there for show. Look like you're doing something because that's also the risk. IFAs can be utilized as pawns to say, look, we're offering this corporate security service, but really, it's just for show.
- Acceptance. With most things, no one likes to put different procedures or processes in place that might take more work or take up someone's time for an issue that hasn't occurred. It's always more accessible on the back end to say, oh, we should add all these things because, you know, this issue has happened. But I think, you know, when you're trying to do something preventative to say, we've noticed these issues, you know, from our experience, you might want to make these changes. I think that's where, you know, people have a hard time implementing the suggestions. I think it's acceptance of the change.
- Lack of experience, where sometimes you are faced with issues you have not seen before or are conducting investigations in an industry you are not familiar with, can be a big challenge.
- All clients have a different risk tolerance. So, you know, where there's, I think, an expectation gap between do-gooders such as myself, forensic accountants, and risk professionals, where we come in, and we try to help our client, the client may not have the same starting point in terms of understanding of the inherent risk. Your client thinks everything's good in that, and you are saying, look, something is not right here. In some cases, you hear answers like, right! I'll worry about that in a year or two when I have more money. I hear you say that could happen to me, but I don't think it will happen.

# 3. How has integrating technology in forensic accounting changed how you work? What technologies have been most impactful, and are there any emerging tools you see as particularly promising for enhancing corporate governance?

• Technology has significantly changed our practice. I think a forensic accountant in the 90s or the early 2000s would have probably looked at a lot of paper and signatures and things like that for looking at internal control's purposes. I have never done an investigation that didn't have a significant amount of data associated with it. And so, the tools have, I would say, advanced

significantly over the years. We used to have a lot of rules-based type analytics. So, the IFA would know I am looking for this specific pattern. They would put in the pattern and get the results back.

- The evolution has been such that we're now seeing better business intelligence tools that the IFA can use as part of the visualization-type tools in the last five or ten years. And then the last thing is more advanced analytics. More recently, Gen.AI has been impacting what we do as well. So, there's been a massive change over my career in terms of tools, from rules-based tools to visualization and business intelligence tools to now the more sophisticated generative AI tools. All of that can have an impact on governance.
- The new tools have helped our analyses. Still, they also introduce additional risks from a governance perspective regarding confidentiality and trademarks and whether they introduce other risks regarding how reliable the information becomes. I think we sometimes have a bias toward relying on information from software tools.
- In terms of fraud, I can give you an example of something I'm doing now. I do a lot of class action administration work. That means we often set up a website and allow users to make a claim. Sometimes, the old way of committing fraud would be just that someone would make a hundred claims, let's say, and hope that we're not looking at that we're going to pay them a hundred times; that might have been the old way. But that has changed now, and what we see now as an example is people using bots to make thousands of claims in a few minutes. They can also create thousands of email addresses in a few minutes that all link up to another email address, so it looks like
- The technology could be faster. It's fast technology, but it's been very slow at impacting how Frauds are committed at the end of the day. It's the same old frauds that keep happening. And the technology is just a tool to achieve it. We use, for example, cryptocurrencies. It's the same Ponzi scheme; it's wrapped in new technology. So, when I think of technology, for me, whatever technology exists to defraud, I can use the same technology to detect. It's the same process.
- When it comes to going through a large amount of data, where technology has helped the most for investigations is the same as for the fraudsters. They've been able to do things because of technology a lot faster, send many more things, and do many more things, but I cannot do that when I investigate. So, when there's lots of data, we work. For example, I work with data scientists here,

and you need support. The IT support gives you the information in a format where you can search that data. For example, if the data comes in text or complicated format, you want to make it easy to search through Excel and break it down in Excel formats, but you work with them to do that.

- Personally, and here at the firm, we don't use any crazy digital technology. There are different technologies available. But even in the basic technology we use now, like your standard Word and Excel and your standard accounting programs, there have been leaps and bounds regarding what those programs can do. That has increased the time required to sort out processes, find issues, and figure out problems.
- I think there is a significant increase in external fraud, right? If you look at an airline, for example, and you say, okay, what's going on in airlines? Like, you got the customers trying to rip off the airline, your employees trying to rip off the airline, and then you just have random cyber criminals trying to rip off the airline, right? And you may have had your points account hacked and stolen. That's a perfect example. Cash sitting there has been issued by an airline, and your account with them has a point balance. So that's the cash account sitting with an airline. Everyone's trying to get all that. I mean, it's the Wild West. Travel agents are trying to steal those points. We're all digitally connected, and third parties unrelated to your employees can rip you off, right? Your customers, they're friendly fraud. So, it's just an ocean of risks, and I need to manage and mitigate them.

# 4. IFAs are often perceived as reactive, focusing on fraud investigation after the fact. Can you discuss any proactive measures that IFAs can take to prevent fraud and misconduct before they happen?

- You are looking at a specific process and identifying potential weaknesses. And again, I'm a bit skewed towards analytics; if you can look at a process, let's say a procurement process, and see that the vendor master file has a lot of duplicate vendors, or that you could see that there's a segregation of duties issue because the same person can create a purchase order, create an invoice, make a payment, you can proactively say, hey, here are some broad risks that are wide open, and we recommend that you try and seal and put some additional internal controls in place.
- We also do fraud risk management type, proactive engagements where we'll try to understand the process and ask what could go wrong with a given process and then, essentially, try and

identify if the controls in place are sufficient or if more controls are needed. We try to focus on the opportunity part of the fraud diamond. That's the only part the clients can control and where we can help them maintain. And so, we're constantly trying to say, let's do a proactive mandate where we do a deep dive into the opportunity part of the fraud diamond and just identify, are there any additional controls that can be put in place from a governance perspective that will help.

- I've worked with many clients before working at the **second** and building fraud detection mechanisms. It starts, again, it's the culture. It wants to have an environment with policies, procedures, and controls. And yes, auditors can help do that. Still, when you're looking at it from a purely fraud or corruption issues perspective, it's a very, very good idea to work upfront with a forensic accountant, and I've had engagements when, where I've done that. So, there are many roles we can have. We can help a corporation build an environment based on its own risk. It is less prone to fraud. I'll give a specific example. While working at the insurer, I was helping the clients build a tailored benefit plan that did not facilitate fraud.
- Suppose you're an internal resource for an organization practicing corporate investigation. In that case, the obvious answer is that your investigation's results should further inform and get to the root cause so that you can remediate. And if you're not involved in that level as a forensic professional, you're ashamed of yourself. That's just the expectation that those closest to the investigation document articulate how it happened, who was involved, and what controls need to be remedied to prevent specific issues from reoccurring. As a consultant, I'd say the same thing. If you're in the market singly trying to sell yourself as someone who investigates but doesn't help with fraud risk management, then shame on us as a profession, correct? Because we have so much more to offer our clients. Number one is because we know what evil looks like. I've used that term before, but we can help our clients. We tend to know just by looking at things, like, well, you'll have a problem there. So, leveraging that knowledge and insight, reading policies and procedures, reading purchase and sales agreements, knowing where you're potentially going invite controversy through litigation, through regulatory enforcement or otherwise, I mean, it's a big part of, what we ultimately gain in terms of all that practical knowledge from doing the investigations is you just know how things go awry and understand quickly the root causes.
- 5. Looking forward, what opportunities do you see for IFAs to further enhance corporate governance? Are there specific areas within governance that are currently under-served by IFAs?

- There's a reputation for being very reactive. And we need to show that we can proactively provide some of these services. And I think that's still a battle that we're fighting today so that people will see us as more than just people; IFA is more than someone who can help with a fraud investigation. There's a whole list of what we can do. And as I said, the class action administration that I'm doing now, I'm certainly an IFA, and I'm doing that kind of service. It's not something that you would necessarily think an IFA can do, but I think it uses the same skill set as an investigation, even though there's been no evidence that fraud has been committed. So, I guess we have IFAs that have to look beyond a fraud investigation.
- We can also have a bigger role in everything related to cyber fraud. And oftentimes, cyber security is a different profile set. However, it would be interesting to link cybersecurity and IFA skill sets together rather than leave it to a cyber professional alone. I think that's probably an area where I'd like to see IFAs be more involved in cybersecurity-type fraud as well.
- Generally speaking, our role is being underutilized for various reasons. One is the need for more understanding of how we can assist, but it goes back to culture again. The culture of accountability needs to be there. The way our corporate culture is built is short-term profit. Let's keep our operations open with investigations. We'll do what we'll do, and many organizations see fraud as a cost of doing business.
- I'm seeing many people migrating from corporate investigations and litigation support type backgrounds moving into corporate government roles that include, you know, understanding risks and compliance and helping clients. You know, through working in compliance offices or, you know, working in-house within corporations. Corporations have hired up a lot of talent that once only existed within boutique consulting firms or, you know, accounting firms that provided forensic and risk services. So, I guess they go a long way to say that corporations have hired up. Large multinationals have all taken it very seriously. US multinationals understand that they need the experience that forensic professionals have within their four walls. And now it ebbs and flows over time in terms of whether they will carry the costs of these professionals or pay for it on an as-needed basis.

# 6. In the context of globalization, what are the significant obstacles IFA faces in ensuring corporate governance standards?

 Sometimes, the rules are different in different countries. Not all countries have the same appetite, and even investigations are not handled in the same way. I don't know if it's an obstacle, but some countries are certainly more open to having more proactive services and talking about fraud.

Interestingly, when you talk about fraud, individuals tend to think that more fraud is being committed. That shouldn't be the case. Some countries and some provinces are less afraid to talk about fraud, but I think fraud is everywhere. But some are not as open in terms of wanting to deal with it. And so, although my focus is more on Canada, it's not all countries. There's still a stigma concerning talking about fraud. And I find that in Canada and Quebec specifically, we're more open, which sometimes gives us a reputation to say that there's more fraud going on. I agree.

- Many corporations follow when they do it right; when you do it right, you follow the most stringent regulations and ensure you're in line globally with the most strict regulations. Typically, that's European regulations regarding privacy, expectations of good governance, and anti-trust laws. When you want to follow the golden standard, it's not the US you follow; it's Europe. The European framework is the most comprehensive. Now, more and more, the European Union and the US also have laws that say, well, even if you're working from another country, let's say you're based, I don't know, in Asia, and you're doing business in the US or Europe, you must follow the laws of the local laws. So, what you do is make sure your global operations follow the most stringent list and the most stringent regulations, and then you're never caught. But again, it's culture. You make sure you operate. You don't use the opportunity that, oh, this country doesn't have as many stringent regulations; therefore, I'm going to change how I work.
- Globalization has allowed us to work on files that cross borders. And...to get help from people in other countries when we need it. So, languages come to mind, right? Living here in Canada, we get involved in many files where documents might be in a different language. So, globalization, from a firm perspective, has helped us from that level. We've had people translate information for us. We've had people, you know, conduct interviews for us. And we've assisted other parts of the world in terms of experience with specific situations that might be relevant to others.

Regulation, I mean, the rules will be different globally, but then there's also, particularly in ethics compliance, some level of, we're not lawyers, we're not trying to play lawyer, and we know, generally speaking, fraud and corruption. When working with our clients globally, we must be less concerned; we always have lawyers around us. It's inherent in our profession that we are typically providing information to attorneys who then provide legal advice on what to do with the findings. And we, as professionals, don't opine on broad. We review and gather information that will support the identification of losses that appear to be related to fraud, but we're not triers of fact. We prepare information and help understand whether allegations can be substantiated in that capacity. Still, we're not in the business of opining in most contexts of what we're doing in forensics. So, when it comes down to law and whether someone violated the law, fraud, or something like that, it has a lot of bearing on being global. But the beauty of what we do is so much of it is, yeah, we need to understand the local regulations and analyze and evaluate whether or not our clients are following the local laws and regulations as we know them. But we're not in a position where we have to opine in any way of, you know, whether or not a law has been violated. Ethics and compliance programs have become more universal with a local flavor. And that's where, you know, I don't see how smaller boutiques, right, you've got to be careful, like smaller boutiques, practicing and forensics should not be doing international work unless they understand the local laws and regulations, have people that speak the local language and can understand local business customs, right? It's just you're not going to be effective, you're not going to be efficient, and you're certainly going to put yourself at a lot of risk as a professional if you're trying to play yourself out as doing global work when you don't have the international resources to do it. That's why we have 100 people in 20 countries in RSM, and we leverage our international network of professionals to do global investigations.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

OECD. (2015). G20/OECD principles of corporate governance. OECD Publishing.

Brooks, Leonard J., & Dunn, Paul. (2020). *Business and professional ethics* (9th ed.). Cengage Learning.Crumbley, D. Larry, & Fenton, Elinor D. (2021). *Forensic and investigative accounting* (10th ed.). CCHIncorporated.

University of Lincoln. (2022, June 16). What is the core principle of corporate governance? https://online.lincoln.ac.uk/what-are-the-core-principles-of-corporate-governance/ (Accessed April 27, 2024).

Duhigg, C. (2024). TD Bank probe tied to laundering of illicit fentanyl profits. The Wall Street Journal. https://www.wsj.com/articles/td-bank-probe-tied-to-laundering-of-illicit-fentanyl-profits-aae71243

Farnham, K. (2023, December 15). Top corporate governance trends for 2024 & beyond. Diligent Corporation. https://www.diligent.com/resources/blog/corporate-governance-trends

Russell Reynolds Associates. (2024). Two thousand twenty-four global corporate governance trends. https://www.russellreynolds.com/en/insights/reports-surveys/2024-global-corporate-governance-trends

Lipton, M. (2024, January 3). Thoughts for boards: Key issues in corporate governance for 2024. Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2024/01/03/thoughts-for-boards-key-issues-in-corporate-governance-for-2024/

PwC. (2021). Forensic technology: Tools and techniques to fight fraud. Retrieved from https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/services/forensic-technology.html

Financial Crime Academy. (n.d.). Forensic accountants. Retrieved May 21, 2024, from https://financialcrimeacademy.org/forensic-accountants/

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB). (2023). Release No. 2023-003: Noncompliance with laws and regulations. Retrieved from https://assets.pcaobus.org/pcaob-dev/docs/default-source/rulemaking/docket-051/pcaob-release-no.-2023-003---noclar.pdf?sfvrsn=fe43e8a\_2

Ardichvili, A., Mitchell, J. A., & Jondle, D. (2009). Characteristics of ethical business cultures. Journal of Business Ethics, 85(4), 445-451. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-008-9782-4

KPMG. (2016). Profiles of the fraudster. Retrieved from https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2016/05/profiles-of-the-fraudster.pdf Vere, K. (2024). Ethical issues in forensic accounting: Safeguarding financial integrity. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/380068357\_Ethical\_Issues\_in\_Forensic\_Accounting\_Safeguarding\_F inancial\_Integrity

Financial Action Task Force (FATF). (2023). Illicit financial flows from cyber-enabled fraud. Retrieved from https://www.fatf-gafi.org/en/publications/Methodsandtrends/illicit-financial-flows-cyber-enabled-fraud.html#:~:text=Paris%2C%209%20November%202023%20%2D%20Cyber,reported%20and%20their%20 global%20spread

KPMG. (2014). Cross-border investigation. KPMG. Retrieved from https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/01/Cross-Border-Investigation-2014.pdf

J.S. Held. (2023). Detecting fraud using emerging technology: Don't be afraid to innovate. Retrieved from https://www.jsheld.com/insights/articles/detecting-fraud-using-emerging-technology-dont-be-afraid-to-innovate

Integrity Forensic. (2023). The impact of blockchain technology on forensic accounting: Unlocking new possibilities. Retrieved from https://integrityforensic.com/the-impact-of-blockchain-technology-on-forensic-accounting-unlocking-new-possibilities/

EY. (2021). Sarbanes-Oxley: 20 years of improved audit oversight. Retrieved from https://www.ey.com/en\_us/insights/assurance/sarbanes-oxley-20-years-of-improved-audit-oversight

Deloitte. (2023). Evolution of the forensic industry. Retrieved from

https://www2.deloitte.com/in/en/pages/risk/articles/evolution-of-the-forensic-industry.html

Ontario Securities Commission. (2018). In the matter of Sino-Forest Corporation, Allen Chan, Albert Ip, Alfred C.T. Hung, George Ho, Simon Yeung, and David Horsley (Case No. 2018 ONSEC 37). Retrieved from https://www.osc.gov.on.ca/documents/en/Proceedings-RAD/rad\_20180709\_sino-forest.pdf

Kirby, J. (2014, September 3). The red flags raised by the Sino-Forest case. Maclean's. https://macleans.ca/economy/economicanalysis/the-red-flags-raised-by-the-sino-forest-case

BNN Bloomberg. (2017, July 14). OSC rules Sino-Forest defrauded investors and misled investigators. BNN Bloomberg. https://www.bnnbloomberg.ca/osc-rules-sino-forest-defrauded-investors-and-misled-investigators-1.804706

Ontario Securities Commission. (2012). Statement of allegations in the matter of Sino-Forest Corporation, Allen Chan, Albert Ip, Alfred C.T. Hung, George Ho, Simon Yeung, and David Horsley. Retrieved from [link to the document or where it was accessed] Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP. (2017, July 17). OSC releases long-awaited decision in Sino-Forest. Risk Management. Retrieved from https://www.osler.com/en/blogs/risk/july-2017/osc-releases-long-awaited-decision-in-sino-forest

Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (2003). The fall of Enron. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 17(2), 3-26.

Benston, G. J., & Hartgraves, A. L. (2002). Enron: What happened, and what can we learn from it? Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 21(2), 105-127.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act.

Craig Wong. (2012, December 4). Auditor accused of failings in Sino-Forest debacle. Times Colonist. Retrieved May 13, 2024, from https://www.timescolonist.com/business/auditor-accused-of-failings-in-sino-forest-debacle-4568085

Thu Nguyen. (2021, June 11). A lesson on ethical organizational culture from the Enron scandal. JobHopin . Retrieved May 13, 2024, from https://www.jobhopin.com/blog/a-lesson-on-ethical-organizational-culture-from-the-enron-scandal/